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TO MY MOTHER



PREFACE

The purpose of this study has been to trace the
evolutlon and course of Richmond as a port city from 1its
beginning date, its period of gradual growth, the years
of peak activity in the nineteenth century, fhe beginning
ol 1ts decline 1n world trade, the subsequent renailssance
of the port, followed by a recent decline at the present
time, pointing out factors which brought sbout and con-
tributed to cach of these stages,

I wish to gratefully acknowledge and express my
appreciation for the valuable assistance and suggestions,
in the preparation of this thesis, offered by the following
people: to Professor Jack Wagoner for suggesting'the sub-
Ject and possible sources of information regarding the
subject; to Dr. Douglas Southall Freeman for suggesting
additionai sources of information; to Captain 0. L. Rowe,
City Harbormaster, for supplylng current information re-
garding the Port of Richmond, and the canal, an adjunct of
the port; to Miss Bessie Eberwine for obtaining from the
libraries in Baltimore, Maryland, material relative to the
coffee trade during the nineteenth century; and to Dr. Herman
P. Thomas for guldance and suggestions concerning the content

and arrangement of the material in each chapter,
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HISTORY OF RICHMOND AS A PORT CITY

CHAPTER I
INTRODUCTION

The history of Richmond as a port city has been traced
from 1ts earliest beginnings until the present date. This
development has been taken through all the stageg: origin, -
rise, decline, renalssance, and present status. Also, the
evolution of the James River Canal, an adjunct of the port,
has beeﬁ traced through the following stages: origin, rise,
decline, and present status. I |

The history begins when Colonel Willlam Byrd saw the
possibility of the site as a trading center in 1733 and
projected a plan to establish a town at the falls of the
Jamea, which was carried out in 1737. This early phase 1s
followed by a study of Richmond'!s growth as a port city
during the elghtsenth century and following the Revolutionary
War; the official designation of Richmond as & port city in



1800; the continued growth until the Civil War period,
highlighted by the immense coffee trade from South Amsrica
and flour exported there from Richmond; the Civil War years
when Richmond bécame the center of national interest; re-
congtruction following the devastation of the Civil War;
peak activity of the port in the nineteenth century; the
gradual decline of trade to and from the port; revival of
the port following certain major improvements; reasons for
the latest decline of the port; volume of trade, past and
presentj savings effected through the use of the port; and

present atatus of Richmond as a port city.



CHAPTER II
ORIGIN OF RICHMOND AND
EARLY GROWTH, 1733-1800

Richmondt's development as a port, into which come the
goods of many foreign lands and from which go its products,
dates almost from ﬁhe discovery of the site.

One of the most important factors in this development
of Richmond has been its location, situated only'one hune
dred miles from the Atlantic Seaboard at the head of tide-
water on a navigable stream.,

The Jamea River was the first river to be explored‘
commercially by the English and has played an important
part iIn the history of Virginia from the time of the settle-
ment at Jameatown. The site of Richmond was discovered
only ten days after the founding of Jamestown, first perma-
nent English settlement in America.

Present-day Richmégd grew from thls little trading

post at the falls of the James, founded primarily for the



purpose of the tobacco trade. In 1733, Willlam Byrd laid
the foundation for Richmond, stating that: "The uppermost
Landing of James was naturally intended for a Mart where
the Outer Inhabitants Must Gentor."l
For a hundred years before William Byrd 1aid out his

town at the head of navigation on the James, frontier
traders had been familiar with the site. Indians from

rich hunting grounds in western Virginia met the factors

at the falls, It was a natural stopping place and had
become an outfitting post for planters as well as hunters
and other adventurers before the village was chartered in
1742, in which year the population consisted of 250 people.
At this time, loads of tobacco were carried and loaded on
ships moored In the tidal basin. Roughly built c#bins
clustered along the river. Artisans were busy operating
grist millg, digging iron ore, and preparing for the future
role of the community as an industrial center. During this

period the villaze was the last outpost of civilization.
But as population spread to the West, it became the natural

market between the West and the East.a

iijorkers of the Writers' Program of the W. P. A. in the
State of Virzinia, Virzinia, A Guide to the 0ld Dominion,
Oxford University Press, New York, 1940, p. 236,

2Apprbaches to 1ts History by Various Hands, Richmond,
Capital of Virginia, Whittet and Shepperson, Richmond,
Virg nia' 1'}3 s Po 180 : )



In this early period, transportation was larpgely by
water, and Richmond, being an inland port, profitted by
the lack of overland transportation‘media. Ever gsince the
city's founding the James River has borne much of Richmond's
commerceo. |

Richmond's growth during these early years was slow
but continuous. In 1769, a town later called Manchester
(now South Richmoﬁd) was established at Rocky Ridge on the
gouth side of the river.- In 1775, Richmond was still
little more than a frontier vlllage.h' During the next
decade Richmond's gradual growth continued, with vicissltudes
that included the destructive great freshet of 1771l. Many
buildings were washed away eand tobacco and other goods in
warehouses werc damaged badly. In 1773, the town contained
less than 300 homes. Four years later, Major William Mayo
plotted on what 1s Churchhill, 32 squares for Richmond
Mwith Streets 65 Feet Wide," and hamod the place after
Richmond on the Thames. In 1779, Richmond waa made the
capital of Virginia; and by 1780 it had 684 1nhabitants.5

3%iorkers of the VWritera! Program of the W. P A. in the
State of Virzinia, op. cit., p. 207.

&Lutz, Earle, A Richmond Album, Garrett and Massie,
Richmond, Virginia, 1937, p. 1ll.

_ SWQrkers of the Writers'! Program of the W. P. A. in the
State of Virginia, op. cit., p. 287.



Following the Revolutionary War, the task of rebullding
was begun. The first undertaking, in 1782, was to incor-
porate Richmond as a town. As yet the only method of
transportation was by water.6 By 1790, the population had
increased to 3,761 inhabitants. In 1793 the town was en~
larged by taking in the lots of the Reverend (iilliam Coutts.7
By 1800, Richmond had a population of 5,730.

OLutz, op. cit., p. 16,

7Ibid., p. 18.



CHAPTER IIIX
DEVELOPMENT AND COMMERCE, 1800-1860

In 1300, Richmond had a population of 5,730 and was
the most populous city in the Union. Not until 1820 did
she lose first place to New York.1 The city was estab-
lished as a customs port and district on December 5, 1800,
when President John Adams appointed James Gibbon, Collector,
giving him charge of the entire seacoast of the State.2
Goods were imported into Virginia, previous to and for a
score of yéara after the Revolution, chiefly by English,'

Scotch and Irish merchants. The principals of these merw

cantile houses resided in Great Britaln, and junior parthers

lan an, J. III, "Richmond," Saturday Evening Post,
August 23, 1943.

2smith, W. G., "Richmond May Be World Port Again,"
Richmond Times Dispatch, December 16, 193l.




conducted the busineas in Virginia. The monopoly of the
trade of Virginia, to a great extent was retained by the
British merchants many years after the peace of 1783, but
adventurers from the northern and eaatern states graduallj
made good their footing; even some Virzinians condescended
to stand behind the deék or the counter.

When our goods were imported directly from abroad, and

our produce exported to Europe, we paid dearly for the
honor of such direct trade. We found it to our interests

to encourage northern competition, which increased by slow
desrees. The purchase of goods in Hew York and Philadelphia
became the rule, and direct importation the exception.

The system which formerly existed prevented an accum-
ulation of capital in Richmond, since the profits on trade
went chietlj to the principals in Great Britain. Large
sums were thus exported from Richmond and Patersburg tb
establish merchants in London, Liverpodl; and New York, while
scarcely any capital came from those cities to replace it.3

The War of 1812 caused the Richmond merchants to suffer
many hardships, due to the Emba‘go and Non—intercourse Act

which preceded this war with Great Britain. It was difficult

3Mordeca1, Samiel, Richmond in By=-gone Days, Ge M. West,
Richmond, Virginia, 1856, p. LO.
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for the merchants to secure goods from London and Liverpool,
and the deprivation of Richmond of many articles of necessity
was very severe.b‘ Also, shippers suffered severe losses at
sea. After a year of warfare it was necessary :to open & marine
insurance company in Richmond to combat conditions. The

owners had to be guaranteed some protection against the loss

of thelr ships and cargoes.

Prices rose rapidly. For example, eclt sold in Richmond
at one period of the War of 1812 at {25 per sack, and almost
all imported commodities were in proportion. The supplies
obtained were not so much by 1mportétion as by capture from
the enemy. Our privateers were numerous, as well as daring,
and frequently were successful in getting their prizes into
those ports which the enemy cbuld not easlly blockade,

bkxports from Richmond were chiefly by ﬁay of Amelia
Island, at.fhe northern extremity of East Florida, then a
Spanish colony and neutral. Tobacco, almoat the only artlicle,
was transported partly in small vessels through the inlets
and souﬁds of North Carolina, South Carolina, and Georgia,
Richmond's central position was highly unfavorable for this

forced trade.

qBondurant, Agnes M., Poe's Richmond, Garrett and
Kassie, Inc., Richmond, Virzinia, 1952, p. 45.

5Bullington, Ann, Viznettesg of the James, Richmond Preas,
Inc., Richmond, Virginia, 1941, p. 75.
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Following the War of 1812, the port soon sgain buzzed
with activity. However, it was shaken by a depression that
-hit suddenly in 1819. Bhippihg on the James was drastically
reduced, but in due time conditions returned to normal, and
Richmond, in the first part of the nineteenth century, be=-
camo a bustling canal port, the central point'betwéen the
Aountains and the_sea.6 It grew rapldly intc a typical,
picturesque watorfront of its day. Along Lester Street
large warehousea loomed and interspersed through the lodale
were well-patronized saloons. 3Sallors from all climes, who
spoke many different languages, laughed, sang, and made
merry in these waterfront places. |

The U. S. Deputy Collectdr for the Port, in an article
in the Richmond Times Dispatch in December, 193k, stated:

"with the tremenduous importance of the port

in the early days, I find that the total collections

of duty in 1821 was only $36,990.58. That total

was regarded as something prodiglous.”

By 1833, Ricimond had become a port of first importence.
In this year exports of domestic produce from Richmond to
foreign countries shipped in American vessels amounted to
$,166,360; thoss shipped in forelgn vessels were valued at
£,98,131. During the mame year, five schooners, nine barks,
thirty-seven brigs, and thirty other shipas, in all eighty-

one outgoing vessels cleared the Port of Bichmond. Four

OMeacham, W. S., "Despite Change, Richmond 1s St111
Richmond," New York Times, September 5, 1937.
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schooners, six brigs, two barks, and three other ships
entered from foreign countries, making a total tonnage of
3,412 tons.

The import trade was not so great as the export. The
merchandise brought into the clty from forelgn countries in
1333 was valued at $209,963 and the duties to the federal
government amounted to $75,120. Among the articles brought

up the James were salt, bar and pig iron, and plaster and
lime. Among the items ocarried down the James were flour,
wheat, coal, and tobaoco.7 |

Yearly the river's frelght grew 1in volume. By 1837,
seagoing vessels from London, Liverpool, and other foreign
ports, as well a§ those from New.York and Baltimore, anchored
at the Richmond iharr. One lihe, that of J;'Hooper and Sons,
had seven freight packets on & regular schedule between
Richmond and Balﬁimore in 1939. Much of this cargo came
'from the fertile plantations of the upper James as well as
the lower estates. Negroes worked the tobacco fields aﬁd
traveled almosat daily the roads to the city, rolling hogs-
heads of tobacco or driving carts loaded with farm produce,

for shipment from the port.8

7B°ndurant, OpP. cito, P 30.

BBullington, op. cit., pe. 78.
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Activity at the port continued well into the forties.
This was an uneventful period, but at least one boat that
cleared in 184/ was of general 1ntereat and was seen off by
manye. Thls was the bark ”Bachelor," bound for Ireland with
a cargo of mercy. She carried food and clothing, Richmond's
gift to the suffering Irish. The port at that time embraced
Port Mayo, the canal, and Rocketts, in the v;cinity of
Thirty-first and Main Streets, in what is now known as
Fulton. The landing was just below the present city whart,?

During the period of the Mexican War, 1846-1848, Riochmond
received a setback through a fire which destroyed the Gallego
Mills. Bullt on the river at thq end of the eighteenth cen-
tu;y, the Gallego Mills produced a rlour’that was famous
throughout the}world and‘parficularly popular in Latin
America, as 1t could be shipped with a minimum of loss through
the equatorial belt.10

Richmond's population contiﬁued to increase and by 1850
it numbered 30,000 people.11 In the decade preceding the
Civil War, the city was one of the greatest coffee ports
north of the Indiea.lZBoats frqm South America lay thick in

§Bondurant, op. sit., p. 82

loApproachea to 1ts History by Various Hands, Richmond,
Capital of Vi; inia, Whittet and Shepperson, Richmond, Virginia,
Iggg; P.

11Eaton. Glement, A Histor ‘of the 0ld South, The Macmillan
Company, New York, 194G, p. 432.

12Approaches to its History by Various Hands, op. cit., p. 18.
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the river, often walting for another to sall in order that
they could have berths. These coffee boats brought stones

to the oity in the form of ballast. As coffee is 1ight it
| is necésaary to carry something to supply deficlency in
weight. These stones wers used as cobbles for Richmond
streets. Other cargoes were brought in besldes coffee,
such as splces and foodstuflfs, ailks and clothing, tropi-
cal fruits, etc.l3

For a picture of the poft at the middle of the nineteenth

century, the following paragraphs are quoted from the Rlchmond
News Leader of October 15, 19403 |

"Pew Richmonders are aware that at one time
Richmond had the greatest waterway on the Atlantic
Seaboard. During the middle of the 19th century
more than a hundred sailing ships were crowded in
80 closely at the port that not another boat could
anchor.

"In those dayas in order to keep the freight
from piling up on the wharf it required more than
200 wagons and drays, many drawn by four mules,
running day and night to remove the cargoea, 80
great was Richmond's trade by water.

"The vessels were unloaded by means of a
block and tackle rigged up on the wharf, the motive
power supplled by a horse. The cargoes were stored
in sheds near the dock or placed 1in warehouses to
await buyers, unless consigned to Richmond mer~
chants., (Contrast present method of unloading
with one described: Today electric cranes handle
gargo?s between the vessels and the tarminal build-

ngs.

i3}3ul11ngi:cm, op. cit., pp. 78-9.



"The center of the oity's activity was the
river dock, since it anchored vessels from all
over the world: coffee from Brazil; sugar and
molasses from the West Indles; salt from Liver-
pool, England; cloth from Manchester, England;
herrings from Novia Scotiaj lime from Maine;
guano from Peru.

"With the exception of a line of Philadelphia
steamers, only sailing vessels such as barques and
schooners entered the dock; the other steamship
lines had landing places at Rocketts.

"On the south side of the James River the
channel was deep encugh for larger ships than
those which frequented the dock to saill up to
the Dunlop mills and take on cargoes of flour
for the tropics. The flour manufactured at the
Dunlop mills kept perfectly in tropical countries,
consequently enormous trade resulted. Today, a
century lster, the Dunlop mills are still opsrating.

fwilliam Taylor, who was one of the largest
wholesale merchants in Richmond, imported at one
time a cargo of Irish potatoes directly from
Ireland, and when the news got earound, his store
and warehouse were thronged with Irish citizens
who bought the entire cargo.

"Hundreds of hogsheads of tobacco were
shipped to Germany.

"Phousands of bales of hay and tons of ice
came into the dock. When schooners arrived with
ice from Maine, great was the rejolcing by hot
and thirsty Richmonders.

"It was not unusual to see forty oyster
boats in the waters of the doock.

"Great loads of sand were brought in--fine
white sand for the floors of harbor shops aﬁg
saloons, and black sand for blotting ink."}

luﬁiohmond Hews Leader, October 15, 1940.
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During the period 1852-185l, the port handled 100,000
tons of cargo & year, At that time it was a highly impor-
tant port of export, shipping tobacco, flour, and lumber
to such points as Germany, France, and South Amerioa.ls

Richmond entered upon a campaign for thé.improvement
of the port in the fiftles, for the pseople were aware of
the ominous presence of a threatening cloud in the sky to
the north. Few were blind to the fact that bad days lay
ahead, Still war held off and men had heart fob other
things. Seven years.paaaed ard the blow had not fallen.

The business snd revemue of the Port of Richmond
increased steadily from 1853 to 1860. In 1855, 1217 boats
and vessels entered the dock, and 1377 left; in 1857, the
number which entered was 1852, and those which left rmumbered
1891; in 1860.’the number had riéen to 2123 incoming vessels
and 2337 outgoiﬁg craft. In 1855; sixty New York packets,
forty Baltimore packets, and twentye-nine Boston packets
entered the dock with assorted cargoes. In 1860, the number
had increased to fifty-six from Hew York, seventy~five from
Baltimore, and thirty-nine from Boston.

The chief articles of trade unloaded at the port were
the heavy, bulky staples. The following statistical details

will give an idea of their character and quantity: In 1860,

15Richmond Times Dispatch, April 30, 1950.
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incoming veasels unloaded 29,397 tons of coal, 25,470 barrels
of rish, 22,778 tons of guano, 29,813 bales of hay, 13,333
tons of iron (pig and scrap), 48,491 casks of 1lime, 27,035
bushels of oats, 8,149 tons of plaster, 73,177 sacka of salt,
3,116,600 shingles, 2,053 barrels of tar and rosin, and
43,112 bushels of wheat. The principal articles loaded at
the dock on outgolng vessels consisted of 423,19/ barrols of
flour, 56,367 packages of tobacco, 143,000 bushels of wheat,
and 1,117 tierces of tobacco. The receipts from dockage for
1860 were $50,128.03, the disburaements were $7,721.52, and
the net income éﬁz.hcb.sl.lé For more than half a century
-this port (at the head of navigation on the James) grew
larger and busier; then at the beginning of the Civil War,

it ceased 1ts feverish activitles to become a Confederéte

- Ravy Yard end torpedo base.1l7

AibDunavay, Wayleand F., History of the James River and
Kanawha Company, Columbia University Press, New York, 1922,
PDs “He

i

17Bu111ngton, [2)e.0 Oitog Pe 79‘
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CHAPTER IV
THE CIVIL WAR PERIOD AND

CROWTH OF COMMERCE FOLLOWING WAR, 1861-1890

The port at Richmond saw a great deal of activity
during the Civil War. A navy yard sprang into instant
operation and boats were built there for the Confederate
Navy. Commerce, of course, collapsed, béing at a virtual
standstill, but a fine white packet did run the blookade
and bring a'cargo of general merchandise to the‘city.

When Richmond was evacuated in April, 1865, departing
Confederate trdops set 1t afire, and when the Federal forces
arrived, three quarteia of the ocity were in ashes, Among
the detrimental effects to the port and its commerce as a
result of this fire were the burning of the following: a
sectioa of the canal property; the Gallego Mills, noted
for its world famous flour, and the majority of the tobacco

factoriec.
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Not until the war ceased did the port regain its posie
tion in the shipping world. Four years of war had left a
river obstructed with sunken craft, devold of wharves and
warehouses, and whose channel had been made more shallow
and more narrow through failure to dredge 1t, Commerce
revived when the sunken ahips and other obatructibna were
ramoved.1 Following the deepening of the channel in 1870,
the collections for the year 1871 were $53,6Sh.18. Cone
trast this figure:with the total collections fifty years
before, in 1821, of &86,990.58.2 The disruption following
the Civil War accounted-for this decline. However, by
1872, river traffic haa récovqred to the extent of 600,000
tons. B86% of this tonnage was coastwise and 14% was foreign
cormmerce. In this year, more tonnage was handled by water
than all other transportation facilities combined.  This
trade was carried on in sailing vessels.3

By 1880, the population had increased to 63,600, and

vas doubled again in the next twenty yearas.
For a picture of the port in 1880, the following

paragraph from the Richmond Times Dispateh of December 16,

T o
Bullington, op. cit., p. 107.

Richnond Times Dispatch, December 16, 193k.

31bid., December 16, 193L.



193k, follows:

"In 1880, and for a few years following, it
was not an uncommon sight to see many foreign
ships in the port. They brought large importations
of coffee from South America and carrled flour to
that country. That was the time when salling
vessels as ocean freight carriers began to pass
into the discard. Fewer and fewer of these ships
arrived here. '

"The harbor bristled with the masts of sea-
going ships. There were vesselas from the seven
seas. PFreight carriers at that time were wooden
veasels and for many of them the voyage across
the seas was attended by great peril. For such
vessels, the channel from the seas to Richmond
was navigable.

"In:those brave old days of the wooden ships
the far west end of Richmond was Monroe Park.
Most of the business life of the city was eaat
of 1lth Street. In the neighborhood of 18th
and Main Streets several ship chandlers carried
on & lucrative busineas. The City Dock, at the
foot of 17th Street was used extensively and many
saliling vessela In foreign trade went there to
discharge and take on cargo.

"The steamships used the wharves further
down the river, where passenger ships also
docked, _ '

"The 0ld Dominion steamship vessels and
other coastwise ships carried passengers and
freight to New York on tri-weekly sailings.
The Clyde Line Steamship Company'!s steamers
carried passengers and freight, plying between
Richmond and Philadelphia. The Powahtan Line
had three sailings a week to Baltimore."

Richmond was cne of America's greatest post-~bellum

ports. In 13882, a total of seventy commodities passed

gSmith. W. Gay, U. S. Deputy Collector, "Richmond
May Be World Port Agaein,"™ Richmond Times Dispatch,
Richmond, Virginia, December 10, 193i.
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into and out of Richmond in the ships that plied from Norfolk
up the river channel into Richmond.5 In this year, commerce
on the James reached its peak, during the nineteenth cen~
tury, totalling 1,640,000 tons, a large proportion going
through Richmond.6

The great turning point in Richmond as a port was the
complefion of the Chesapeake and Chio Railroad from Richmond
to Rewport ﬁaws in 1882, resulting in the slow but gradual
lanquishing of the harbor. Upon the completion of thia
railroad there was a shift of the coal trade of Richmond
to Newport News. When the rallroads moved to Ribhmcnd.
there began the alow transfer of the coffee trade which
had long centered here.7 Thus, the railroads eventually
destroyed the flourishing coffee and flour trade between
Rio de Janeiro and Richmond,

Another reason for the decline of the port after 1882
was due to the building of roads and highways, resulting
in an inocrease in transport on 1and.8

By 1883, Richmond had effected a remarkable recovery
from the ravages of the Clvil War. At the close of the

5Richmond Times Dispatch, October 2, 1949.

61bid., April 30, 1950.
7Richmond News Leader, February 25, 194/.

81b1d., oOctober 21, 192l




21

Civil War, in 1865, one third of the city's area was burned,
The value of merchandise and produce loat, including tobaccé,
was approximately $5,000,0003 her people were left so bare
of food that when the city was occupled by Federal troops,
at least half of the population had to be subsisted on

army rations, She had to start practically all over again
on money borrowed at 12% interest; and following the war
she had.to pay an excise tax, never before imposed, from
1866 to 1883, on tobaocco, abirits. and several other arti-
cles, of 639,000.000, 90% of th;a being on tobacco alone,
her largest article of commerce., Yet in spite of all these
drawbacks, her population by 1883 had increased over 1004
(from 37,910 in 1860 to 70,94l in 1883); her business
activity had branched out in new directions; end she had
improved the channel of the James Riveﬁ, spending $500,000
for this purpose.

Also, previous to and during the war period, only
vesgels drawing ten feet of water could come at high tide
to the wharves at the head of navigdtion,. But the channel
was gradually deepened so that it had by 1883, a depth of

seventeen feet to Richmond and ninaeteen feet five miles below,g

IRuffin, Col. F. G., "The Advantages of the James River in
Virginia for Shipbuilding," addressed to the Ship-builders of
Glasgow, Everett Waddey, Stationer & Printer, Richmond, Va.,1883.
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The port was long hampered by the exlstence of pillot's
charges and a {ight to abollsh this unjust burden resulted
in the General Assembly of 1838 passinz a law doing‘away
with them.lo

In 1890, sail md paddle wheels 8till held a hotlceably
wvide margin over steamers which drew too much water for the
channel below Richmond. The ships came in great mmbers
and even the bad financial condition of this era did not
seem to limit the amount of shippling that entered the
port. Spices, salt, wines, brandies, coffee, tea, fish
{meny from the lower James), and divers commodities wore
brought to Richmond in the holds of ships.ll 1In this
~ year, the first year in which governmént tonnage .rocorda
are available, a total of 743,100 tons of freight was
moved over the James River. Since 1890, however, for a
period of thirty~four years, there was a fluctuating but

gradual decline in freight carried over the river,1

1OBu111ngton, Ann, Vignettes of the James, Richmond
Press, Inc., Richmond, Vfrg%nfa, 1941, p. 78.

1rpi8., pe 107.

12powers, Go M., "The James Rivor, Ita Improvement and

Cormerce," Richmond, Virginla, October 2, 193l
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CHAPTER V
THE PERIOD 1890-1950

The history of the Richmond port from 1890 to 1950
may be divided into two periods, the decline of the port
from 1890 to 1920, and the growth since 1920. Beginning
in 1890 and contimuiing for three decades, there was a
gradual decline in freight carried over the James River.
Perhaps the reason for this can be explained in that chan-
nel deepening did not keep pace wiﬁh the progressive draft
of all vessels built.l

A signifiéant entry in the City Anmual Report of 1912
follows?

"Phe city has purchased the old dock from 17th

Street to the shiplocks. The gates of the shiplock

were decayed and broken down to such a degree that

the dock could not be used. These gates have been
removed and repaired and are now in good order.

Iéowers, G. M., "The James River, Its Improvement and
Commerce,” Richmond, Virginia, October 2, 193l.



2}

A new wharf along the river front from Gillies

Creek to Nicholson Street, about 700 feet long,

has been completed at a cost of approximately

425,000, The work of removing the rock in

front of the harbor will be continmied until

we have 13 feet of water along the entire wharf

front. "

As a result of these Improvements, the fortunes of
the port took an upward turn in the following year. The
duties collected in 1913 were $1,000,000.2 In 1913, by an
order of President Taft, the Customs District of Richmond
was abolished and Richmond became a port of the Virginia
Customs District, with headquarters in Norfolk,3

By 1920, Riochmond covered an area of 23.38 square
miles and had a population of 171,677 inhabitants., In
this year, however, the total tonnage was the lowest on
record, only 135,000_tona.h

" Followling 1920, the port showed considerable growth.
In 1921, Richmond collected $£1,000,000 in duties at the
port, and since that date the collections have steadlily

advanced.5 In this third decade of the twentleth century,

2 ' |
Smith, W. G., U. S. Deputy Collector, "Richmond May
Be World Port Again," Richmond Times Dispatch, December 16,

1934

3Ibid.

vem———

uBowafs; G. M.,"The James River, Its Improvement and
Cormerce,™ Richmond, Virginia, October 2, 193L.

Smelvin, Horace, Richmond Times Dispatch, October [, 1931.




25

the commerce coming into the harbor conslsted of wheat,
corn, lumber, bricks, salt, salt fish, fiah}roe, tomatoes,
green peas, gand, junk, oil, (two million gallons) and tar
paper,

Comparison of the James River tonnage with 127 other
navigable rivers of the Atlantic Coast Division shbwed that
the commerce of the James fdr the year 1923 ranked fifth in
tonnage and second in value of tonnage, and in the latter
was exceoded only by that handled on the Hudson River.7

In 192/, Richmond!s water-borne commerce began to pick
upe In this year the totgl tonnage exceeded that of 1890
by nearly 50,000 tons, due principally to the general

increase in business activities at that time,

An excerpt from an article in the Richmond Times

Dispatch of November 22, 1936, in reference to the year
1926, statedt "Richmond's water-borne cormerce has

definitely been on the up-grade since 1926." Duty cole
lectlons began to increase slowly. Gradually they grew

heavier until in 1§31 the port recoipts were #4,071,328.55,

5)

City Annual Report, Richmond, Virginia, 1922.
7¢1ty Annual Report, Richmond, Virginia, 1925.

BSmith, We Ge, Deputy Collector of Customs, The
Richmond Times Dispatch, December, 193l.
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In 1931, leading the list of imports was tobacco, which came
principally from Turkay.9

On Jamary 1, 1932, the first foreign craft to put in
at Richmond Port in thirty-three years docked here.
Richmonders turned out by the hundreds to visit the British,
"Baron Elibank,"” and chat with her officers and men. The
ship carried a cargo of 500,000 pounds of refined Cuban
sugar. This was the {irst of several planned shipments by
water to Hichmonde It took the ship thirteen hours to
negotiate the tortuous turns between Newport News end
Richmond., The officers of the ship agreed that with the
bends taken out of the river, traffic could be developed to
a profitable'extent.- Until the arrival of this ship, all
foreign msrchandise had been arriving here for many years
in bonded cars and coastwilse vesaela.lo‘ Since the latter
part of the nineteenth century ships were built of increag-
ing size and dréft. which made 1t difficult or Imposaible
for them to navigate river chanhels to inlend ports. Conse-
quently, foreign commerce directly into the Pért of Richmond
sharply decreased. This explains why the major portions of

the customs receipts, since the latter part of the nineteenth

9Bowers, Ge Me, "Phe James River, Its Improvement and
Cormerce,™ Richmond, Virginia, October 2, 193/.

10R10hmond Times Dispateh, Jamuary 2, 1932.
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century, did not come from products that reached Richmond
as ship cargoes but as shipments which arrived in Richmond
on rallroad cars, or coastwise vessels. These lmports
arrived at some other port and were roshipped to Richmond.
The last foreign ship to enter Richmond's harbor (gntil the
arrival of the "Baron Elibank") was the British bark, "Success,”
which arrived here in 1899 with a cargo of molasses from the
Brltish West Indies.ll

The same situation existed as to exports. During this
period among the products which were shipped out of Richmond
for foreign destination-«products which could have been
shipped direct 1f the ships could have reached Richmonde-
were cigarettes, cligars, tobacco, paper and paper producta,
steel, flour, machinery, lumber products, lead, and tiﬁfoil.

Twelve vessels Irom foreign nations unloaded cargoes
here during 1933, and for the first time since old salling
days Richmond téok on the aspect of an international port.
All of the ships except one (which brought newsprint from
Canada) brought Cuban sugar here.

The old flour and coffee trade with Rlo de Janeiro

declined ebout 1390 and there was no conaslderable docking

11Richmond‘Times Dispatch, October l, 1931.

1zﬂichmond Times Dispatch, December 21, 1933,
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of forelgn vessels in the Port of Richmond gince that time.
The increase in forelign shipa for 1933 was attributed
to the dovelopment of sugar importing here and &lso to the
impreved wharf snd warchousec facilities at the Richmond
waterfront terminal. The Upper Terminal was completed in
this years. Customs receipts for the sugar cargoes carried
in the twelve feoreign ships amounted to 86&&,&11.13
Since the'Baron Elibank," the British ship, docked
here in 1932, which was the first foreign ship having
docked here since 1899, seventeon foreign ships had
antercd the harbor for the year 193/, with sugar cargoes,
and a forelign flag was no longer a curiosity.lh
In 1935, the tonnage had reached 1,771,033, the value
being $34,570,335. In 1936, the tonnage was 1.080,006 and
it was valued at &,%sl;,ooo,oao.l5 The fizures for 1936 indi-
cated that about B0% of the tonnage consisted of gssoline
and olls, ferﬁilizer materials, logs, sand and gravel,
most of which was transported by the owners of the come

modities in their own vessels. Thirteen per cent of the

river tonnage was handled by the ccmmon carrier steamship

13pichmond Times Dispatch, September 20, 1940.

1b31chmond Times Dispatch, December 21, 193&.

1581 chmond Times Dispatch, November 22, 1936,
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companies operating in Richmond, and the remainder moved in

16

vessels of small capacity.

An excerpt from an article in the Richmond Times

Dispatch of October 10, 1948, relating to 1939, followat
"Nearly 1,500,000 tona of commodities wers

handled in the Richmond harbor during 1939, the

lagt pre-war year, whilch means that Richmond

handled 504 of all Jemes River traffic. Vision-

ary men could forsee the sectionts growth around

the James River, but they would be astonished at

today's developments., Richmond, by the grace of

God, and nearly $8,000,000 has become a seaport.”

William G, Smith, retiring as Deputy Collector of
Customs in 1941, saw receipts grow from $20,000 in 1913 to
$6,000,000 in 19/1. Much of the prestige and business of
the Port of Rlchmond began to come back upon completion of
the Richmond Waterfront Termina1.17 The first cargo to
arrive at the Terminal in 19&1, was 1,008 tons of newsprint

brought in on a British steamer, thls newsprint being con=-

signed to the Richmond Times Dlspatch and the Richmond News

Leader. A great majJority of the ships entering the harbor
that year were of the cargo-sarrylng type, and‘tuenty~thrae
were flying the flags of foreign nations.

IQApproachesvto its History by Various Hagda, Richmond,
Capital of Virginla, Whittet and Shepperson, Richmond,
Tirginia, 1933, p. 28l.

17

Richmond News Leader, June 3, 1941.
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- River traffic became a war casualty, for beginning in
1942 and for the next three yoars there was a decline in
customs receipts for the Port of Richmond. Recoipts were
as follows: 1942, ¢5,058,885; 1943, #,532,823; 1941,
'$h,hh5,9h6.1slﬁaceipta began to plck up again in 1945 with
a total of éS,lO&,Slh,_1ncreasing'sllghtly each year with
an all-time high of $6,659,235 4in 1948.

The 149 year old Port of Richmond completed its ssocond
heaviest import year of its history in 1949. Recelpte for
the year amounted to $,638,822. Twenty foreign ships
docked here during the year, They brought in such items as
raw aﬁd reflned sﬁgar from Cuba, tobacco from Africa, Cuba,
Greece, Russia, Bulgaria, and Turkey; cigarette-making ma=
chinery and parts from England; tonka beana from Venezﬁela
and Trinidad; maple sugar from Canada; liquors from Scotland;
bulbs from‘Hollandg chinaware and pottery from Hollahd, Japan,
Englaﬁd;'Francé, and China; watch parts from Switzerland}
linens aad laces from Ireland; wearing apparel from England
and Scotland; hats from France; end furniture from England
end Hollend. 4 |

Sizaple qﬁantitiea of the imported materials were ab-

sorbed by the tobacco industry here. These included tobacco

e

8 .
: Contrast custom recelpts of $6,000,000 received in
1941 with receipts for the three years following, 1942, 1943,
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1tself, machinery and parts for local clgarette factories,
and the tonka beans and cane and maple sugar were used for
| flavorinz various tobacco productss Nearly 23,000,000
pounds of refined sugar and.npproximately Z,SO0,000.pounds
of raw sugar were imported from Cuba, principally for the
use of local tobacco firms, .

Much of the imported tobascco and nearly a&ll of the
imported liquor were moved from the water or raill carriers
in which they arrived, to bonded warehouses where they were
gtored until needed by the importer. Duty was paid on the

19

imported commoditlies only when they were removed for use.

1
9Richmond News Leader, July 6, 1949.




The following tabulation shows the amount of duty
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collected at the Port of Richmond for fiscal years ending

June 30.

tations only, since no duty is collected at the Port of

This tabulation is for duty collected on impor-

20

Richmond on exportations,

- e W w W e

(I I B IR O

41 000, 000.00
1,110, 850.53
1:& 0,05 05
1,740,78 «87
1,869, 075.60
2,222, 676 07
2, 321,000.00
3.175.123.
" 071’355'55
656716426

5.793.352
6,032,242.00
6,000, 000.00
5,058 885 00
.00
%Z.oo
.10 ' 5 .oo
5.513.01
L
6, g 822,00
206 858,00
L.3u5.195.oo

0 ' .
These fiztres were glven to the author by the U. S.

Customs Collector of ths Post Office Building, Richmond,

Virginia,
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The drop in receipts for the fiscal year 1951, as
contrasted with 1950, is attributed to the cut in import
rates, notably Turkish tobacco, the rate on this cormodity
being cut 33 1/34 in March, 1950.2l

The volume of James River frelght varied from year to
year., Complete records of frelight carried date from the
year 1890. The average aanual tonnage handled on the river
for the ten year periods from 1890 to 1920 was as follows!

1890 to 1900 = = = = = = 637,000 tons
1900 to 1910 = = = = = = 557,000 tons
1910 to 1920 = = = = = = 551,000 tons

The anmial tonnage and value of tonnagé over a fifteen

year period was as follows}

Tons Valuo
1921 = = = = = = 88,545  $52,392, 509 00
1922 « = = = = = 39.217 51,085,5691.00
1923 = = = = = = 712,8 3 3.518 819.00
192} « = « = = « Z ‘ 7,821 93.00
1925 = = = « = = 81 607 85 ZZ 91.00
01926 @ - - - - »572 264,135.00
1927 « = = = = = 9 3,017 82,36 4,757.00
1928 « = = -« - - 1,125,210 70,501, gqg
1929 = = = = = = 1,105,615 81, 132,
1930 - e o ow o= - 1 219,801 61{, ,369100
1931 = = =« « = = 1,332, z?; 52,316,500. 00
1932 - - e - - 1, 102 0 ‘ 51,8[}0 98
1933 = = « = = - 1:333: 2 6l,172,75 00
193§ - - === 1,873 70, 383,850 00
1935 = =« = = = =« 1, 771.033 811,570, 335.00
21

: Statement made to the author by the U. 3.
Customs Collector, Post Office Bullding, Richmond, Virginia,
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The following listing will disclosa tho fact that the city
tonnesze on the James River, during the past decade, has cone
tinually increased by years aince 1945, & war year. The
listing will also 1llustrate tho fact that total tonnagoe

for each year in the decade, with the exceptlon of 1905,

exceeded the ono nillion moark.

© TCTAL JANES RIVER TONNAGE FOR THE PAST
TEN YEAR3, ALSO TOINAGE HANDLED THROUGH
THE RICHMOND BARBOR

Year Total River Tunnaze Richemond llarbor Tonnare
1939 2,320,163 1,474,015
19 2‘ 61.]. ”275 1, 2’ 61
19h1 bmo 00418 1.383060
1942 3,332,998 1,175,956
194 2,749,104 1,286,792
194, a.ﬂg 21229 1,§23.718
19 1v s999 (63:17
19 2,210,113 1,379,20
19)-‘-7 2’ 5093 1[‘0 1. JO ’ 01{1
1948 2,930,017 1,755,330
19{_}9 1,759,026
1950 - 2,085,910
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 CHAPTER VI
INDUSTRIES GONTRIBUTING TO THE GROWTH OF THE PORT

Tobacoa:‘

Tobacco was largely responslble for the establishment
of a permanent trading post at the site of the present
Richrionds Richmond, from its colonial beginnings, was a
center of trade for tobacco. From 1611 to date, the hise
tory of tobacco 1s virtually the hilstory of a large portion
of Virginia. The demand for it had existed in England for
some years and by 1512 the amount used entailed an outlay
of 200,000 pounds. The tendoncy of the planters to run
ahoad of English demand, the lack of a market for the sur-
plus crop, and competition from other zrowers were but a few
of the problems that gévo the Virginidns deep concern.

By 1665, however, ships sailing from Richmond laden with
tobaccolrapresantad many cilties--Bristol, Weymouth, Dartmouth,

and Hull; Plymouth, Bldeford, Barnstaple, and London.
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Although tobacco gave the colonists a cash income
worthy of note, for years funds so derived did little to
develop other than the plantations of the 01d Dominion.

The money was utilized by the planters chiefly in obtaining
from the mother country articles of clothing, liquors and
wares utilized by their familles and their servants and
slnvaa.l

Shiﬁa that brought English goods to stores and homes
went back laden with Virginia produce equally welcome on
that side of the water. Among exports {rom Richmond and its
nelghborhood'for the year from October 1764~1765 were ovor
20,000 hogsheads of tobacco. '

Announcements in the Gagzette for 1785 and 1786 show
frequent arrival of ships from European ports, bringing wares
to be exchanged with the Richmond merchants for tobacco.

Only the smaller ol the ships came all the way to Riohmond.2
Prom 1815 through 1820 the principal commoditles shipped

down the river included a large olement of tobacco.3

- '~iﬁpproaches to its History by Various Hands, Richmond,
.Capital of Virzinia, Whittet and Shepperson, Richmond,
rzinia, 1938, D. L |

e
Stanard, Mary M., Richmond, Its People and Its Story,
Je Be Lippincatt Company, Philadelphia, 1823. Pe 113.

6 3Approaohas to 1ts Hilstory by Various Hands, op. clt.,
Pe
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By 1835, Richmond manufacturers were boasting that the
tobacco they preparod for forelgn markets was more sought
after than any made alaewhere.h' Up to 1840, most of the
tobacco ralsod was exporteds. Tho British duty on tobacco
.waa heavy, three to four shilllings a pound,\equivélent to
an ad valorem duty of 900%Z., The Britlsh purchased LOZ of
the tobacco exported, the Freach Zoﬁ.lthe Italians 15%, and
the North Europeana 25%.

The leading tobacco menufacturer in Richmond during
ante=bellum days was James Thonas, Jr. His career as a
tobacconlist began in Virginia a3 an agent of the French
government to purchase tobacco in the Virginia marketa.
Early in the decade of the 1330's he commenced manufacturing
chewing tobaccc. By 1850, he had become a large manufacturer
whose popular brand, "Wedding Cake," was shipped to Enzland
in large orders from Richmond, It was also shipped to
England, Cormany, Auatralla, end to the distributing centers
of New York, Balﬁimore, and Bostone After the gold rmish of
1849, he hold a virtual monoply on the trade of chewing

tobacco gent to Californin.5

z‘Bcazmiurmﬁ:, Agnes M., Poe's Richmond, Garrett and Massie,
Inc., Richmond, Virginias, 1942, Pe. 35.

5 ~
Eaton, Clement, A History of the 0ld Socuth, The
Kacmillan Company, New York, T§H§T Pe 430.
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In 1850, large cargoes of leaf and atem tobacco wore
exported from Richmond to Bremen and'Bavra.6 By June, 1860,
Richmond, instead of shipping mbst of its raw tobacco abroad,
as in former times, processed much of it in the citye. with
its fifty-two factories, it was by far £he’largost’tobacoo
manufaoturing city in the United States. By 1866, following
the Civil War, Richmbnd had only fourteen tobaocco factories.
The city's wounds were aimoat mortal and recovery was painful,

However, tobacco was largely responsible for the surge
upward shortly after the Civil War. A new type of leaf was
becoming popular: bright tobacco. By 1867, this leal was in

demand in almost every tobacoo factory and every rotail store
in the world. Prior to the Civil Var tobaocco had been a
luxur& of gentiemen, It now came into almost universal use
throughout.Amerioé dnd most of Europe. OCattlemen, miners,
laborers, students, everyone sought solace in the golden prod-
uct of Virginia farms and Richmond factorles. Snuff, which
once had been used mainly to tickle the noses of noblemen,
increased in popularity, along with all of the other forms

of tobacco. '

A brand of cigarette mamifactured in Richmond by Allen
& Ginter bacéme world fanmous thrbugh a policy of bold adver-

tising, which was copied by many Amerlcan Industries.

6Stanard, Hary W., Ops oites, Pe 113,
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Since 1670, the factories hore in Hichmond have only
with difficulty kept up with the mounting démand for cigarettea.
Deaplte heavy taxation by the United States government, de-
spite foreign monopolies, asnd periodical crusades agelnat the
popular commodity, the demand has inoroassed until cigarettes
hold & place among the greatest of American oommoditiea
abroad. ! |
Ko tobacco or cigarsttes have been exported directlg
from the Port of Richmond since 1942, when the Buxton Steam-
ship Lines, Inc., discpntinued‘their sallings here. 8ince

that time, tobacco and cizarettes have bsen taken from here

by trucks and by railway,.

Shipbuildins: Trigg Shipbuilding Company and The Richmond
Locomotive VWorks

Pwo of the large industries in which Richmond took
great pride and.to which 1t owed much of 1ts growth during
tha‘ninatlea wore the Richmond Locomotive Works and the
Trizgg Shipbullding Compeny. |

In 1848, a shipyard was started on the southside of the
Jamea. Records show that Talbott & Brothers had bullt an

s

7Apprdachea to its History by Varlious Hands, op. cit.,
n, & ' ‘

8“*atement made to the author by Captain 0. L. Rowe,
City Harbcrmaster.
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iron steamer, the "Goneral McDowell," in 1844, for use on
tho canal, but it was not a success. During the Civil wWar
the Confederate Navy Yard built ironclads here.

‘The Richmond Locomotive Yiorks atarted opérationa about
1838, The ongines for the battleoship "Texas," pride of the
American navy during tho SpanisheAmorican War perlod, wars
built at the plant here, In tho early part of 1891 the
boiler shop burned and part of the "Texas'" machinery was
éuinad. During World War I the big plant was converted into
e shell factory, first for the Allles, and then for the
nations, - | |

Tho Telbott plant, on the dock, was converted into the
Trigg Shipbuilding Company in 1898.. This Company's shipyards
wore active from\1898 until 1902. Contracts to builld two
torpedo boats, the "Shubrick" and the "Stookton," wore 8e-
cured. A groat event occurred in Richmond on October 31, 1899,
when Presldent Qilliam B, MoKinley and members of his cabinet |
came hers to soc the "Shubrick” launched, The "Stockton” was
finishod two months later. Another vessel bullt at the plant
was the Chesapoake and Ohio's "Virzinia" which waa put in
operation betweoen Newport NHews and Norfolk. The dostroyer |
"Dale," and later the "Decatur,” weia launched in 19003 howovar,

fn 1902 the Company was placed in tho hands of recelvers and
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the Company was placed in the hands of recelvers and shortly

afterwards closed permanently.?

Tredez8r Iron Works:

The greatest iron company of Richmond and of the South
was the Tredegor Iron Works which was founded in 1837. The
Compang made clam cable, ralls, and spikes for railroads.
However, the market of this company was chiefly in the North
wnere the goods were sﬁipped, as southerners were pre judiced
ggainst buying home-made products of 1ron.lo The Tredegor
Iron Works Company ﬁés the leader of the South in the de=-
velopment of the iron industry in 1860. The plant contrib-
utedAmunitions and supplies to the Confederacy during the
Civil War. Here were folled the platqs that armored the

"Merrimac-Virginia," terror of the Union Navy. The plant
also contributed munitions and supplies to the United
States in all féreign wars since its establishment. This
oldest plant of its kind soﬁth of the Potomac 13 now a
Jumble of blackened brick buildings spread ovér a twentye

five acre lot.

9Lutz, Earle, A Richmond Album, Garrett and Massie,
Richmond, Virginia, 1937, p. 120.

10Wofkefs of the Viriters! Prozram of the W. P. A., in

Virginia, Virginia, A Guide to the 0ld Dominion, Oxford
Universi%y Press, New York, 1940, p. 2080.




42

The James River Packet Company:

Edmond and Davenport, a business principslly of whole-
-gale grocaeries, together with a Mpr. Boyd of Lynchburg,
organized the James River Packet Company.

Later this partnership was so aﬁooessrul that a still
larger financlsl enterprise was begun, the shipment of‘flour
and cotton to South Amerioca, and the investment of the pro-
.03865409 these cargoea In sugar and coffee, which were im-
ported to Richmond. Thus originated a trade that did more
for the growth and prosperity of the port than almost any
other intérest up to that time had achioved. Such waa the
growth of this business that the firm made a large fortune
fﬁqm;it, and when the War Between the States broke out in
1861, it owned a line of barks that ran regularly from -
Richmond to Pernambuco (now known ss Recife) and to'Rio de
Janeiro. The war blockade of the Confederacy caused thils
cormerce to be diverted to Balgimore; and after tho war

the f£irm was never active in the business again.ll

S11ks
The decade, 1830-1840, ended with one of the oddest

booms on record. In éomﬁany_with half the country, Richmond

‘ 1inaven?ort nsurance Corporation, The Experience of &
Century, 1348-1948, whittet and Shepperson, Richmond,
irginla, 1945, pe 180 :
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was swept by a‘craze for silk culture. Millions ofvmulbefry
| treea were'impqrted'ana set out everywhere; even in 8t,
,Johnia'cémetéry. The’silkworm'eggs_were also imported, and
aftef hatching in bedrooms; kitchens»and parlors,vthe cocoons
wére treated and some 8ilk extracted. As suddenly as.lt.

“gtarted, the bubble burst.:2

Cosl:

In the 1§dustrial development of Richmohd.ono of the
rescurces practically exhausted now but important in a preve
ious periud‘waa the coéi1daposited‘on both sides of the
James River. This coal, which wgé discovered in 1701, was
the first to be mined Iﬁ{&merica.ls In 1766, 4,900 tons of
coal were shlpped frbm the port,~obtainad from the mines in
Chesterfield_ccﬁnty across the river from Richmondmlh

By 1808, cansl boats ﬁgre transporting coal and other
produce from Westham.at‘thefupper end of the great falla
'to Shockoe Hill in Richmond. .Sincé the canal did not then
extend paat the falls, the coal was dumped and rc}oaded,

~and then hég).ed a mile and a half to the Port of R1chmond
at Rocketts. |

12 '
Lﬂts; Ope. cit‘o, Pe 224

Lstanard, op. elt., p. 113. -

———

lhﬁondurant, op. cit., p. 32.



The mining methods used in the coal fields around
'Richmqnd were of the simplest type., 3lave labor was em-
ployed and the pité were duge. The coalvwas reached by mule-
propélled machinery. In 1822, more than 8,000 tons of
coal, exclusive of that consumed locally, were mined around
Richmond and ahippad to other parts. In 1826, 79,000 tons
of coal were exported.from the Richmond_area. For one year
“ longer this bituminous coal maintained the.lead over
Pennsylvania anthracite and other coal. Richmondts coal
industry reached its height in 1833. By 1836, only 17,000
tons of coal wers eprrted from the Richmohd'area, 8 cone-
siderable drop from the 79,000 tons exported a decade earlier,
Coal was still consldered a large 1tem of export in this de-
vcade, however. ' | |

Two coal mining companies contributing to the coal ex-
port trade from Richmond were the Chesterfield Mining Company
and the Midlothian Mining Company. In 1830, the Chesterfield
mines had a capital of over $2,000,000 and were employed in
the coal carrying trade tributary to Richmond. These mines
gave constant employment to sixty coasting vessels. The
annual shipments rroh the Chesterfield mines increased from

the year 1822 to 1831, 57,202 bushels to 1,204,253 bushels.

5 — . «
Bondurant, op. cit., p. 32.
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Up until the yeér 1855, the Chesterfield Mining Company and
the Midlothian Mining Company both had establishments on
the Richmond side of the James River, &t Roéketts.lé
'§1th the completion of the Chesapeake and Ohioc Railroad
to Newport News in 1881-82, fhe coal trade of Richmond shifted
17 o

to Newport News,

Flour: |

Joseph Gallego, a Spanish miller living in Richmond,
gained international fame for the superior type of flour
which he shipped to Europe and South America. Although the
flour produced at the Gallego Mills was famous throughout
the world, it was particularly popular in Latin America,
since it was the only flour that could be carried across the
| equator without spolling, hence its unique and world-wide
reputation; consequently, enormous trade resulted. South
America, in return fér the flour, sent back coffee to this.
ports The coffee was then distributed from Richmond to the
North, South, and West.la

The original mill was built on the James River at the

end of the nineteenth century. It was the largest mill in

10 o

Whitty, James H., "Fuel Industry Maintained Own Fleet
of Sixty Ships," Richmond Times Dispatch, Richmond, virginis,
October 19, 192, » ‘

17R1chmond News Leader, October 2, 192l.

la"nichmond'a Past," J. T. Hill Printing Company, 1891,
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the city in 1820, and for many years after. Richmond re-
ceived a setback when the mill burned in 1830, but unfil that
time it had been known to grind 300,000 bushels of wheat in
a year's time, The mill burned again in 1848, entalling a
loss of $,00,000. It was, of course, in the paths of the
flames in 1865, when Richmond was burned during the Civil
War, .Again,'on becember 27, 1903, it suffered a $260,000
loss. The bullding was not pebullt to its original height
of nine storiés; after this last fire. Prior to this last
fire, however, the Gallego Mill was considered to be the
largest single mill in the world, The Gallego Mill hed the
advantage of shiﬁping its flour direct to all parts of the
world from its own 10031 dc'wck.l9
The Gallego M1ll for a century, the nineteenth, played |
a mgjor role in Richmondts commérgial life end accounted

for a huge portlon of its exports.go

19 |
Wright, R. W., "Richmond Since the War," Scribners,
July, 1877.

5 ,
OBondurant, op. cit., p. 38.
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CHAPTER VII
STEAMSHIP SERVICE OF THE PORT

Some living today will probably recall when Rocketts,
a.division of the Port of Richmond, was a beéhiva of activ-
ity with the arrival and departure of steamers for New York,
Waahington; Baltimore, Philadelphia, and elsewhere, and when
foreign flags were seen floating lazily from blg frelghters,
The Rockettts Landing wes in the*vicinity of Thirﬁy-first
and Main 8treets, in which area Fulton is now located. The
landing was just below the present city wharf, | |

| The first steamboat ever seen in Richmond; "The RBagle,"
was the talk of 1815, A crowd gathered at the landing to
see the odd craft which was given a test for their benefit
as far as Warwick, where the present Ahpthill plant stends.
The spectatora wore amazed to see that the boat moved up- |
stream at the rate of two miles an hour, and could go back~

ward as well as forward,
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The steamboat "Powhatan" was put into operation in
1816, running from Norfolk to Richmond, It plied between
Baltimore, HNorfolk, snd Richmond, and reguired a week for
the round trip.t o

When the salling vessel hed lergely disappeared, the
acvent of the steamboat brought a demand for deepening the
river channel from chkstt’s to Mayo's Bridge, in order to
admit boats to shockoe creék and &8 far up the stream as
Hezallt's ¥ill, This project permitted a ready tranéfar of
frelght between the boats using the canal and those plying
the river, | |

The "Howard Smith" boat, which srrived in 1889 end tied
up at the Chesapeake and Ohio wharves, exclted much 1nterest.
She carried 1,150 tons of 1ce and was the first four-masted
schooner to visit Richmond, Steam did &ll chores possible |
on the ship. The hot and cold water in her bathrooms was a
woﬂder of the day.a

Many Richmonders still recall the old "Ariel," which
maintained a regular tri-weekly schedule between Richmond

end the Hampton Roads cities., The "Ariel™ was later replaced

‘ Bondurant, Agnes M., Poe!s Richmond, Garrett and
Hassie, Inc., Richmond, Virginla., 1942, p. 32.

2  ion
‘“Bullington, Ann, Vignettes of the James, Richmond
Press, Inc., Richmond, Virginia, I94T, p.
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by the "Pocahontas,” which was in operation up to World War I.

The 0ld Dominion Steamship Company operated night boats
for many years between Richmond and Horfolk for passengers
and freight, connecting with 01d Dominlon liners betwesen
Norfolk and New York, An interesting and enlightening litem
in the ¢ity Annual Report-of Richmond, 1881, states:

| "As ovidence of the improvements which have
been made, the ships of the 0ld Dominion Steamship
Company now leave at & fixed hour, instead of as
formerly, waiting for a sultable helight of tide,
Both the 0ld Dominion and Virginia Navigation
Companies connect with ocean-going and coaste-
vessels at Norfolk and Newport News,"
- The Virginia Navigation Company, which was chartered
on May 9, 1893, ran day boats for passengers and freight to
and from Norfolk, touching at intermediate river'landinga.
The 0ld Dominion night line was discontinued on May 10,
1920, and the service of the Virginia Navigation Company
was abandoned November 29, 1919. Richmond business men then
organized the Richmond-New York Steamship Company (chartered
July 26, 1920), which on August 1l, 1920, insugurated tri-
weekly rreight steamer service, direct betwean Richmond and
New York, Suffering financial revereea, the line was sold
on October 8§, 1925, to Bastern Steamship Lines, Inc.. the
latter continuling the trieweekly Richmond~New York sallings

for freight.
| Beglnning December 15, 19&1, night service was estab~

lished between Richmond and Norfolk by Buxton Lines, Inc.,
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“chartered on February 18, 1921.3 The Buxton Lines extended
their activity to freight and passenger service, but dis-
continued their services to Richmond in 1942,

The Eastern Steamship Lines discontinued thelr services
to Richmond in 19hl.h

The FNorfolk, Baltimore and Carolina Line, Inc., sched-
uled steamship service to Richmond in 1949, providing for
two ships to dock here each week. Arrival of the Norfolk,
Baltimore and Carolina Line, Inc., marked the first resump-
tion of scheduled river service since the Buxton Line aban-
doned 1ts operations here shortly after World War II began,
in 1942. A number of large-scale shippers felt that this
service was vitally needed by the community. Authority was
glven to operate both shlip and barge service to the Norfolk,
Baltimore and Carolina Line by the Interstate Commerce
Gommiasion.5 However, this shipping line discontinued its
6

services here after only two or thres months of operation.

3Approaches to its History by Various Hands, Richmond,
Capital of Virginia, Whittet and Shepperson, Richmond,
Virginia, 13938, p. 284.

hstatement made to the author by the City Harbormaster,
Captain 0. L. Rowe.

5Richmond News Leader, September 23, 1949.

6Statement made to the author by the City Harbormaater,
Captain 0. L. Rowe,
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There 1is no regular and scheduled shipping service to
the Port of Richmond today, with the exception of the shipe-
ping of newsprint, which is sent in by the Mercer Paper
Company Line operating out of Novia Scotia, arriving here

onee asach month,



GHAPTEH_VIII
REASONS FOR THE PORT!S DECLINE

| The trade activity of the Port of Richmond reached
its peak in 1882, after which the picture began to change,
due to the building of railroads, roads, end highways, The
Chesapeake and Ohlo Railroad was completed from Richmond
to Newport News in 1882, With the completion of this ralle
road, there was a shift to Newport News of the coal trade
of Richmbnd.l The railroads destroyed, also, the flourish-
ing trade between Richmond and Rio de Janeiro. The port con-
tinued in & decline thereafter, whlch reached bottom in the
early 1920t's, when the total tonnage was at the low pbint
or.135,000 tons.2

T _ _ ,
Richmond News Leader, October 21, 192},

2 -
Richmond 7?imes Dispatch, April 30, 1950.
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Another reason for the decline was the fact that the
deepening of the river channel did‘not keep pace with the ine
creased draft of the vessels built.3 Naval design had
changed. The recent war brought on the Liberty shlp, the
Victory ship, the C-1, eand the rest of the fleet of supe-
rior ships that draw too much water to get up the James to
Richmond, Thils eccounts for the decline of the Portts trade
following World War II.

Now, at the present time, with only a 25-foot channel
into Vvirginiats capital city, the small and out-of-date
ships that could negotiate the river bring only a few come
modities intec Richmond each yeer: gasoline, kerosene, fusl
oll, sénd and gravel, sugar, newsprint ﬁaper, slag, wood
pulp, tar and sulphur, etc., and take very little out, mainlj
pesnuts and tobacco stems, the latter being a by~-product of
the cigarette factorles, the stems ﬁeing used for fertilizer.
Contrast the present éicture_with that Juét prior to World
ﬁar II, when Richmond was a fifst class port. Before World
Wer II, 90% of the commerclal vessels afloat ceuldvuse the
25«fcot chan#els

Also, it is natural that the development of the great

harbor of Hampton Roads, which ia 100 miles nearer the sea,'

BBowers, G. M., "Richmond as a Port, Its History and
Its Development," Richmond, Virginia, March 13, 1937.
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it

with its strong rail connections paralleling the James River
on both sildes, should have deprived the river of much of the
traffic enjoyed in olden times, but notwlthstanding thls
severs competition, the city of Richmond has exertsd every
effort to re-sstablish water transportation on an important

scale and revive its position as = port.h

Approaches to its History by Varlous Hands, Richmond,
Capital of Virginia, Whittet end Shepperson, Richmond,
Virginia, 1930, p. 20l
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CHAPTER IX
HISTORY OF IMPROVEMENTS

All along the James, progress was made In port im-
provements in the early part of the nineteenth century.
Little 1s known, however, of the physical condition of the
tidal or navigable portion of the James River prior to the
early part of the nineteenth century, aside from the fact
that 1t was used as a tranéportation medium by the early |
settlers of Amerlica from the year 1607 and throughoﬁt the
Colonlal period. Before any Federal improvements were ba-
gun, the minlmum usable low water depth wass seven fest.

Prior to 1816 ships could not ascend to Rocketts be=
cause of shoals and rocks in the river. These obstacles
were removed in 1816, resulting in;greater activity at the
Richmond wharves; it also was fértun&ta for the city's prog-

resé, as this improvement established 1t firmly as a'port.1

. .
Bullington, Ann, Vignettes of the Jamos, Richmond
Press, Inc., Richmond, VIrginia, I94TI, p. 75.,
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The development of Richmecnd as a port through the deep-~
ening and widening of the channel of the James River hes
been the objoctive of the city and Federal cuthorities and
other local civic orgahizations for more than 130 Years,
Since 1018 the people of Richmond have been working toward
the improvement of the James River in order that the uiﬁy
might become eventually one of the importent inland ports
in America.a The first survey of the James was made as
far back as 1818, and othors followed in 1826 and 1827. A1l
were the work of the government. ' |

.The first notable improvement of record wée made 1in
1852 and 185, when $l4,000 was spent in removing dangerous
rocks ahd in dredging the channel immediately below Richmond.
This expense waé equglly terne by ths Federal government and
the City of Richmond. Following the Civil War, commerce re-
vived when sunken sh;ps and other obstructions werc removed,

In 1870, Congress authorized the excavation of a chane-
nel verying in depth from 14 1/2 to 16 1/2 feet below mean
low water from the mouth of theiriver to Richmond; thus, the

-channel was deepened in this year,

R
City Planning Commlssion, A Master Plan for the
Physical Development of the City, Richmond, virginia, 1946,
PP. 17(7=179. )
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~In 188l, Congress authorized extensive improvements in
the river by providing for a channel depth,'below mean low
water, of 22 feet from tne mouth of the river to the corpo-
rate limits of Richmond, with channel wldthe varyling from
200 to 00 feet. In 1902 and 1905, subsequent &cts of
Congress authorized even more extensive work on the‘rivef;
finally providing for a 22 foot depth of channel from
Richmond to the mouth of the river, and s 400 by 600 foot
turning basin in the Richmond harbor.3 By 1916, a channel
vas completed which extended from the mouth qr the river
all the way to Richmond, & distence of 10l miies,
| Approximetely $l,000,000 was expended by the Federal
Government for channel 1mprovemxents in the James River from
1852 up to and including 1915, while that spent by the Gityl
of Richmond within the seme period amcunted to nearly
$1,000,000 _

Beginning in 192}, commerce on the James increased

annually. Realizing the necessity for improving channel
conditions to meet the increessed use of the river, the

Richmond Port Commission was created, 1ts purpose being to

3
Richmond Times Dispatch, October 2, 1949,
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secure further 1§prpvements in the James River and better
terminal facilities.h

In consideration of the channel improvements having
been made, Richmoﬁd agreed to provide terminal facilitles,
which were flnanced jointly by the city, PWA, and WPA. |

It was not until 1930 that the'rsnaiasance of the Port
of hichmond began.s At this time a serious movement began
to provide a major channel for the port, & shorter river
voyage,'and an economical system of handling freight., 1In
this year, Congress appfoved a plan which provided for a
channel 25 feot deesp and 200 feet wide to the proposed
Deepwater Terminal, As a part of this program three canals
were cut, eliminating 10.8 miles of channel at Alken Swamp,
Turkey Island, and Jonaa Reck, thus reducing the léngth of |
the navigable channel. The three cut-off canals eliminated
from navigation threg circuitous and hezardous bends in the
river, The Deepwater Terminal was then built 3.8 miles be~
low the corporate limits because of a solid bed of ﬁock
from that point to the city, which prevented constructing

it nearer the city.é

uhichmond Times Dlspatch, October 2, 19h9.

Spichmond Times Dispatch, April 30, 1950.

6Richmond Times Dispatch, October 2, 199.




59

A8 a result of the improvements effected In the ten-
year period, 19244-1933, the Federal government end the city
combined spent approximately $2,250,000 in channel and term-
inal improvements with the resuit that the total river com-
merce increased from 789,500 tons in 192l to 1,333,709 tons
in 1933, an increase of 5l},200 tons, or approximately 69%
and this was accomplished in splte of a general decline in
prectically all lines of buaihess endeavor, and within e
periocd of world-wide depression. The value of the 1,333,700
total river tonnage handled in 1933 was $64,172,700. This
increase was largely due to the channel an& terminal im-
prbvements.7

Because of these improvements and the construction of
terminal faclilities in’l928 and 1931, together with other

improvements mede in 1931, 1933, 193l, and 1935, the tonnage
handled through the Richmond harbor alone increased from the
low point of 135,000 tons in 1920 to 1,080,000 tons in 1936,
The value of this latter tonnege was estimated to be

$5l;, 000, 000, | | |

The exlistence of solid rock in the river bed to a depth
of 18 feet below mean low water extending from the lock gates

of the city to a point 3.8 miles below the corporate limits

]Bowers, G. M., “Richmohd as A Port, Its History and
Its Development," Richmond, Virginia, March 13, 1937.
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of the clity, and the excessive‘cost of 1ts reﬁnval, brought
sbout the necessity of terminating the 25-foot channel at

that point. By 1937, the last of the cutéorfsfhad been fine
1shed, shortening the distance between Richmond and Hopewell
by 10.8 miles.s |

In the decads, 1930-19&0 approximately $6,960, 000 was
spent on improvements, $3,.3l,000 by the Wer Department on
the‘ﬁerminals, resulting in the completion of the Deepwater
Terminal in 1940, and a navigablelbhannel with & minimum depth
of 25 feet for the entire ninety-one miles between Richmond
and tha mouth of the James River in the Hampton Roads area.
Completion of theselimprovements caused Richmond to be acces-
elble to the majority of ocean-going veaaela prior to World
War e 4 , ,

The latest step in the long history of improvements to
the waterway has been an effort launched to deepen the chan-
nel of the James River rrom.ZS.to 35 feet in order that
larger vessels might bring their cargoes to Richmond. A

35~root channel depends upon a Federal survey md the necessary

appropriation.

3Bowera, Gamble ﬁ., "Richmondts Decpwater Terminal
Commonwealth Marazine, Richmond, Virginia, December, 19&0,

PP l?-l? .

9¢ity Planning COmmission, A Master Plan for the
Ph sicallnevelopment of the City, Richmond, Virginla, 19&6,
PPs 171~179.
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Before World War II there were approximately thirty-
Tive American vessels drawing more water'than the James
River channel afforded. However, during the periocd of
Worid War II the Unifed States alone built over 3,500 such
veasels. Nowvthét the draft has increased, the twenty~five
foot channel is not deep snough for these large ships. It
should be ten feset deaper." | | ‘

It has been eatimated by}Jamea Boiton, of the Doepwater
Terminals, that further ﬁéeﬁehing of the channel would offect
e saving of $1,000,000 to the petroloum industry. This save
ing would.occur in that ocean-going tankers, following such
ah improvement to the channél, could enter the Port of
Richmond instead of having tc {ransfer the load in Norfolk
to.sﬁallhtankers and barges for conveying the cargo to

Richmond,
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CHAPTER X
THE RICHMOND DOCK COMPANY

Qrigin snd Development:

To improve navigation and also to provide dock facil-
ities at'Richmond, the Richmond Dock Company was incorporated
on Fabruary’19, 1816. It proceecded to open navigation for
James River vassels from ﬁhe upper wharf st Rocketts Landing
to about Mayora Bridﬁe, av& also to provide & canal connect=
ing the James River Gowpany?s cenal vasin at the foot of
Eighth and "1eventh Streeta with tidewater.

In 18&1,.the property and rights of the Richmond Dock
Company were purchaszed by the James River and Kanawha Company
at public euction. It was In & dilepidated condition at the
time but wes 1mproved and put into operation in 1843. The
James River and Kanawhas Canal Company further repaired and
enlarged the dock fagil@ties a0 that they were able by 1845

to acecmodate larger vessela. In 18,9-135l, the Richmond
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Dock facilities were further improved by a serles of locks
and baslns below the main canal basin, including a more
adequate ship canal from the dock to Rocketts,

The Richmond Dock Company proved a valusble adjunct
of the James River and Kenawha Company. In 1855, 1,217 boats
and vessels entered the dock and 1,377 left; however, by 1860,
the traffic had in¢reased to 2,123 boats and vessels inbound
and 2,337 outbound. The Richmond Dock facilities, along
with other property of the James River and Kenawha Company,
were leased to the Trigg Shipbuillding company'by the Chesa-
peake and Ohio Rallway in_1898,‘and they were purchased by
the Trigg Company, June 1, 1901.

on April 19, 1912, the city acquired from Receivers
of the Trigg Company the property east of Seventeenth Street
and since that time the City Dock facilities have been greatly
improved, including the construction of large warsehouses for

the storage of water-borne rreight.l

1 _ ' ‘

%pproachea to its History by Various Hands, Richmond,
‘Capltal of Virginia, Whittet and Shepperaon, Richmond
Virginia, 1§:;8, P 281{-' ’ ’
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CHAPTER XI
THE JAMES RIVER CANAL, ADJUKCT OF THE PORT OF RICHMORD

Richmond grew with the development of transportatlon.
Although 1t wes rot until 1840 thet freight was shipped by
canal between Richmond snd Lynchburg, & canal was proposed

in 1750,

The Conceptiong

George Washington first ercused his countrymen to the
importance of connecting the East with the West by mesans of
a waterway from the Virginla capes to the Ohlo River. He
dreamed of & great coanal which would go up to the Ohlo,
binding the settlers there to the people of the coast. As
8 young man he atérted'preaching his gospel of expansion,
elthough i1t was not until after the Ravolutlon that his

influenco was sufflclent to get the project started.
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A8 a result of George Washington's trips west in 1753,
1770, 17723‘and l??h; had come the realization of the ad-
vantages a connection via the waters would bring.} Such &
connection would make Virginia strong in trade and wealth
and make Richmond, whose population wasnt*t nearly as 1grge
as Williamsburg is now, a great trading pbst. Pionear get-
tlers in the Ohio Valley had multiplied. Unlesas a mode of
transportation were established with the Eaat, fhe growing
western trade would naturally follow the broad waters of
the Ohio River and down the Mississippi to New Orleans, cone
trolled by the Spanish;l

In order to fﬁlly'appreciata the practicability of the
project one should consider the physical aspects of the | _
Jemes River, It is formed in Alleghany County by the junc~
tion of the Jackson and Cowpasture Rivers. Its mouth 1s ét
Hampton Roads and ita full course 1is some three hundred end
thirty-five miles. Richmond is at the head of the James
itidééater and from this city to the sea there are no natural
obstacles to navigation, Above Richmond towards Lynchburg;
the falls and numerocus other navigational impossibilities
prevent transportation by boat. The Great Kanawha River; '

which rises in North Carolina, cuts the Alleghany front just

IVirginia Academy of Sciehee, The James River Basin,
Past, Present, and Future, Richmond, Va., 1950, DP. 727=32.
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below Pearisburg, and joins the Ohilo at Polnt-Pleasant,
West Viéginia, was part of the acheme, The reasoning was
" that 1f the James and Great Kanawha Rivers were made navi- |
gable and joined by a turnpike road at their nearest points,
the East and West would be cemented by mutual political and
commercial ties.z

The James River Company, which represented the begiﬁ-
ning of the construction of the first commercial canal in
the United States, was iaunched after a visit to Richmond
by George Washington in 178k, when Lafayette was also a
guest in the city.

The purpose of the canal was to bring to Richmond weste
‘ern produce which had begun to go to Baltimore and other
northern points, and to connaotvthe East with the West by

a wvaterway.

The Births |
bn'January 5,~1785, acts were passed for clearing and
improving the navigation of the James and Potomac and, sub-
sequently in the session, for vesting in General Washington
an interest in each company, 100 shares of $20,000 1h the
one, end 100 shares of 5,000 pounds sterlinglin the other,

s :
"The James River and Kanawha canal." Richmond Times
Dispatch, Richmond, Virginia, April 25, 19487
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as donat;ans from the state, in token of respect for his
sorvices, not only in suggesting these works, but also for
his services to the nation. Washington respectfully dew
clined the @bnationa, but offered to hold them in trust for
such public institutlons es he might designate and the
Legislature 8PProve..

Th9 James Bive? Company was chartered with a capltal -
of %100,000. 1In October, 1785, the stockholders met and
slected George Washington as president, although he de-
¢lined the presidency.?

At the time of the orgénization,ef the James River
Company,; Virginia claimed soverigﬁty as far west as the
ﬁiasissippl River, At thlis time, npvigable weterways fure
nished the only means of contact with distant regions,.

In spite of the fact that the James River Company's
charter read that 1f the work were not completed withih ten
. years the charter would bs revoked, 1t was not until 1795

b

The James River Company opened seven miles of canal to

that boats entered Richmond for loading and unloadinge

Westhem abbve\ﬁichmond.bu December 29, 1709.

Bondurant, Agnes Y., Poe's Richmond, Garrett and
Massie, Inc., Richmond, Virginia, 1942, p. 31.

L

Virginlia Academy of Science, op. cit., p; 719,
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Washington inspected the cbnstrﬁctioﬁ of the canal when
he passed through Richmond on a southern tour in 1791.5
Water was let iﬁto the basin at Richmond in November,
1600.% . |
- Many difficulties and vexations were encountered dur-
ing‘tﬁis early period of the canalts construction. For one
}thing,_tha éxpense had proved greater than anticipated;
and for years the,stockholders ra@aived no dividends. The
bonds_or the company held up_well,'howaver, and wWere exw
chaﬁgsﬁ for goods at.yhe country stores at from fifteen per
‘cent discount to par, The first dividend was paid in 1801,
,béing three per cent. A .
 The compeny began to charge tolls in April, 1794, half
tolls only being demanded at that time} hbwever, by 1§06 |
full tolls were being charged. To January 1, 1805, the com~
pany had received in to}la, for the first twenty years of
its existence, only %65,000~«the'years had been lean for the
stockholders. From that time on, however, 1t began to be &
profitable 1nveétmen£. Stock was at par in 1805, and the
company was considered prosperous. Its capital stock was

$210,000, and it had expended up to this time $136,000 on

zApproachea to 1ts Hlstory by Various Hands, op. cit.,
p. 276, ‘ : g

6

Virginia Academy of Science, op. cite, p¢ 719.
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works of improvement, The tells brought increasing revenue
as the James River valley grew in both wealth and population.

- The nature of the produce broﬁght down the river at.
this early period of the nineteenth century 1z illustrated
Aby the fact that in 1803, the James River Company oharged
tolls on: 16,917 hogsheads of tobacco, 170,588 bugshels of
wheat, 148,183 barrels of flour, 34,248 bushels of corn, and
2,022 cosl boats.’

From 1796 until 1801, improvements were effected in
clearing the river of,dbstruetiens4from.Wegtham to Crow'a
Ferry in Botetourt County. Thousands of men went up the
river to lebor on sluices and lengthen the distance the
canal could serve.0 }}

- Production gnd:commerce having inereased with the open-
ing of the canal, the James RiverAcompany-wéé, by 1808, an
exceédingly profitable enterprise.

The contract for thirteen locks around the falls at
Richmond was let in 1810. Alrel Cooley was pald #9,000 to
9

construct the locks between the Baain;and Mayo's Bridg01

A7Dunaway, Wayland Fuller, History of the James River
and Kanawha Company, Columbia Univers%ty, NeW'YorE, 1922,

Pp. 3I-32.

BBullington, 22; cit., p. 127.

_ 9The present locks were constructed in 1854 and may still
be seen.
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~ Much of the money promised was not forthcoming and the
project began tc fall becsause of lack of funds. Thereforse,
on February 17, 1820, (Richmond then had & population that
approximates Hopewell today) the State assumed control of the
James River Company, as the lean years had come. The canal
was then enlarged from Richmond to Westham and extended to
Maldenf's Adventure Falls in Goochland County, 27 1/2 miles
by'caﬁdl from Richmond. It soon beceme apﬁarent, however,
that progress was slowW as a State entarprisa.l0
| Before tracing the further history of the enterprise,
however, a brief review will be given of the operations of
the James River and Kanawha Company up to the year 1820,
The operations of the company were never on an extensive
scale, and were the object of persistent complaints on the
part of settlers alongtthe river. Unllke most similar en- |
terprises in the Stéte, the company was a [inancial success,
its prosperity increasing with the years. A report of its
receipts and diabursemenps for‘the last year»of 1ts operation
as a private corporation, 1820, were $33,731,95. The come
panyts disbursements for 1820 were 326,577.57, these diss

bursements being for salaries of off'icers and'employees,

Jenkins, Jim, Jr., "The James River and Kanawha Canal,"
Richmond Times Dispatch, Richmond, Virginia, April 25, 1948.
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intorest on money borrowed, and dividends. The surplus for
10820 amounted to 57,1/1.36. The company paid a dividond of
twelve per cent that yoar,

The chief cormodities brought down the river from 1815
to 1820 were tobacco, wheat, corn, flour, coel, 1£on ore,
stone, timber, an& pork. The principal articles carrléd
up the river were articles of merchandise. In 1820, the
tolls in effect for a ton of 2,000 pounds were: 15 cents for
groceries, 15 cents for dry-goods, li.8 conts for tobaaco,

1l cents for flour, 15 cents for éalb, and 2,l; conts for
coal, These tolls had no reference to distance. The amount
of toll was the same whether the article was transported fronm
flestham, or Maldents Adventure, or Lynchbnrg-ll

The James River Company &g a state enterprise, whethai
under the compact or under the exclusive control of the State
of Virginia, was 8 tailureq It never accomplished what it
set out to do., It falled in its oripginal design, that 1is,
to construct a canal from Richmond to Covington., After 1823,
work on thls part of the improvement was almost suspended, end
aftor the lapse of a fow years was entirely suspended, By
182}, the results accomplished consisted of thlrtyéfour miles
of canal having been constructed, an imporfect road of somo

100 miles, and contracts let for the improvement of the

T )
Duneway, ope clte, PPe }5=6.
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Great Kanawha, while the cost had already involved borrowing
$830,000, After 1828, practically all work on the line‘as
a whole, except on the Kanawha road, was allowed to languish
for lack of funds to execute it. Although the organization
continued until 1835, very little new work was undertaken.
The public mind was unsettled and sectionalism retarded-
progress, HRepeated surveys had been made to learn the prace
ticability andvexpensé of the project. The legislature,
being cautious, had not proceeded vigorously with the work,
Timid counsels had caused it to be fearful of putting the
work under a single great improvement, but rather the work
was lald out 1n three sections. The first section was the
canal from Richmond to Maldents Adventure Falls, a distance
cf’ab§ut thirty miles, and this section was completed. The'
second section was the construction of the Kanawha turnpike,
which was. completed. The third sectlon consisted of the
improvement of the Kanawha River, which was not coumpleted.
The James River Company under state control, from 1820
to 1835, enlarged and reconstructed the former canal from
Richmond to Westham and extended it to Maident's Adventure
Falls in Goochland county. The enlarged canal was sbout
thirty miles long, forty feet wide, and from threé to three

and one-halfl feet deep.
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In spite of the ract that the improvéments acﬁually con-
structed by the James River Company under state control were
insufficlent, nevertheless, these improvements were adventa-
géous to the public in getting produce to market. A compar-
ison of tolls under the old company prior to its dissolﬁtion
in 1820 with those subsequent to that time will point out the
advantages geined., From 1817 to 1820; the tolls on tobacco;
wheat, and flour, which were the principal articles of trade
from Cartersville to Richmond; were $3.48 per ton; and the
tolls from Lynchburg to Richmond were $11.12 per ton, How-
ever; from 1827 to 1832; tolls were $2.06 and $5.30 per ton
between the same points; respectively, or approximately half
of what they had formerly been; for a ton of 2,000 pounds;
in each instance.lz

- Because of the poor financial situation existing, the
Richmond merchants called a public meeting on June 3, 1831,
at which they drew up resolutions urging the speedy connect-
ing of the James and the Kanawhe Rivers by & canel. In the
legislative session of 1831-1832 the James River and Kanawha
Compsny was created., Then followed years of construction on

the canal, which wes intended to bring trade and prosperity

Dunaway, 920 611.00’ pp. 86-80



(s
to Richmond,l3

In 1835, the privately owned and operated>James River and
Kanawha Company was organized as a Jjoint stock company. This
Company took over the canal property and rights, 1ts purpose
being to carry out ths original plans and construct the canal
to the Ohilo waters;lh ‘The James River:and Kanawha Company
continmued vigorously to carry out improvements for the next
/fifteen years, ‘ | ,

The canal to Lynchburg, the first division, was completed
in the fall of 1840, a distance of 146 1/2 miles. Thus,
Richmond was linked with the Piedmont countvy.

A big day occurred on December 3, 18l0, when the freight
boat, "General Harrison," accompanied by a similar boat, loaded
with Richmond goods, arrived in Lynchburg; thus, the canal was
furnishing a means of taking goods from Richmond and bring-
ing produce to Richmond. o ‘

The continuous canal éf increased capaclty for bhoats of
sixty tons was opene& to Lynchburg in lEhl,lg

In 1842, an unusually large freshet broke the embankments
of the canal between Lynchburg and Richmend in ovér a hundred

places, It tock four hundred men four months to repair damages,

13DunaWay, ope cit., p. 88,
thenkins, ops cit., Richmond Times Dispatch, April 25,1948,

15Mordeca1, Sarmel, Richmond in By-gone Days, G. M. Weost,
Richmond, Virginia, 1856, p. 303.
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With the aid of a State loan; work pfogressed so that the
canal from Lynchburg to Buchanan was opened in Novembar; 1851,
This was the western terminus of the canal; a distance of 197
miles from Richmond.

The canal followed the north side of the James River from
Richmond to Lyﬁchburg; and on the south side of the river
from Lynchburg to the Blue Ridge Canal; a distance of about
seventeen miles. Here it crossed again to bhe north side of
the river; consisting of a stretch of water where there was

little current from Balcony Falls to Buchanan.

The Period of Greatest Prosperity, 1850-1860:

The canal was at its heyday during the period from 1850
‘through 1860. 4t this time about seventy-five deck boats;
sixty-six open boéts; and fifty-four bateaux were hauling
freight up and down the canal. It took approximately four
hundred and twenty-five horses and mules and nine hundred men
to handle the canal traffiec. Most of the freight traffic was
in agricultural products; the canal being a valuable outlet
for districts upstream. In one year 150;000 bushels of comn
and 60;000 gallons of whiskey came down to Richmond from

Rockbridge alone.l6

Jenkins, op. cit., Richmond Times Dispatch, April 25,

1948,
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In the fifties the canal was the principal artery of
commerce in Virginia, and it 1s thought advisable to describe
the character and extent of its traffic and of the tolls
charged: Freight traffic on the canal in 18&1; the first
year after its completion to Lynchburg; amounted to 110;1&1
tons; for which the gross receipts were $121;751.29 and the
net revenue 359;610.33. In‘18h5; the traffic had increased
to 13&;759 tcns; with gross recelpts amounting to $183;651.05;
and a net revenue of $128;519-58. In 1852, the tonnage was
210;0&0; the gross receipts rising to %277;&48.97; and the
net revenue was $182;190.L7. The canal reached its maximum
as a revenue producer in 1853; when its tonnage was $170;368.81.
After 1853; the growing traffic of the railroads interfered
with the canal's btusiness and its ravenues decreased due to
the necessity of reducing tolls in order to compete with the

.railrcads.17

The best years of the canal were in the decade immediately
preceding the Civil War. Competition ﬁith the railroads was
developing; but as late as 1860 the James Riverkgnd Kanawha
Canal still brought more freight into Richmond é%an all of
the railroads combined, 1n‘1859; a typical year; the canal

17 | o
Dunaway, op. cit., pp. 167-8.
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tonnage exceeded by about 2;500 tons the combined tonnage of
the four railroads entering Richmond,

Wayland Fuller Dunaway says; in his history of the James
River and Kanawha Company; that prior to 1850 that Company
was the giant corporation of the State and that; even as
late as 1860; it was by far the largest freight carrier in
Virginia.ls |

The canal company received fair revenue from water rents
to industry; but its biggest return was from freight tolls,
Its income from all sources in 1860 was $308;895.33; of which

$153;715.88 was net.1?

The War Years, 1861-1865: _
Financial difficulties had pursued the James River and

Kanawha Company, with various helpful schemes being worked
out from time to time, Among these was the one of March 23;
1860; raising the capitalization to $12;A00,000; of which

the state took over 7 ;1;00;000; thereby relieving the company

of debt¢20

18
Virginia Academy of Science, op. cit., p. 815.

lgBOﬂdurant, OP. cit. 4 Po 360

2°Virginia Academy of Science, op. cit., p. 728,
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The city was at its peak industrially and commercially
by 1860; however, by this time i1t was recogniéed that’war was
inevitable.

Recruits for the army began pouring into Richmond on the
packet boats in 1861. 1Iron from the western part of the
State for guns came by the canal, also.2l |

Tolls were diminished during the Civil War, as war per-
sonnel.and supplies.had to be carried at one-fourth the usual
price. Forty-two freight boats in 1861, were withdfawn from
the canal to be employed by their owners in military defense
of their state, |

In May, 1863, a detachment of the enemy!s cavalry made

- a rald on the canal and destroyed one foot bridge, two road

bridges, and four fa?m bridges in the upper Byrd qstate; and
broke down the gatea%of Lock No. 1lli, which caused navigation
to be suspended two days. Dirfioult; after difficulty was
encountered in maintaining the property. |

Sheridan destroyed a portion of the cansal in 1865, put-
ting an end to much of its usefulness. Federals then continued

to damage parts of 1t.22

lBullington, op. cit., p. 126.

221bid, p. 126..
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The Civil War dealt the canal a blow from which 1t never
fully recovered. The revenuos of the James River and Kanawha
Company declined steadily as the war progressed. The procla-
mation of President Lincoln, which declared a blockade of
the Confederate States, scon had its effect, in that the
commerce of the dock and of the canal was cut off and ré—
venues decreased,

Since 1t was important to keep the canal in good repalr
for purposes of transporting military supplles, the Confede-~
rate government was anxlous to have it kept in good condi-
tilon and rendered every assistance possible to attain this
objective. However, at no ﬁime was there a sufficlently
large labor force to keep the canal in thorough repa#r.
Eventuelly most of the foremen and mechanics were called to‘
the colors, and repairs on the canal were almost entirely
suspended,

Uninn_aoldigrs continued to damage parts of the canal.
On March 6, 1865, a force .of cavalry entered the town of
Scéttsville and injured and destroyed parts of the canal
at that points On the’ following day they were joihed by
another column, whereupon they spent about a weeklgoing up
and down the canal for a distance of ninety miles, inflicting
all the damage in their power, to within thirty miles pf

Richmond.23

ZBDunaway’ 22. 01to’ PP 205"7.
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The fire following the evacuation of Richmond by the
Confederate forces in April, 1865, destroyed the general
office of the canal compeny; also, the toll office was de-
stroyed.,

All work on the canal was suspended untll an arrange-
ment with the United States military suthorities was made
whereby the government would furnish material and labor to
put the canal in repalr, the company charging one-halfl the
ordinary tolls agsinst these advances.

Following the Civil War the canal was reopened, but it
had to be made navigable agein, since it was greatly damaged
during the war. On June 28, 1865, the first through packet

2l

arrived in Lynchburg.

The Decline:

The James River and Kanawha Canal Company was hanging
on the ropes by 1867. Interest was increasing in rallroads
and sentiment was growing cold toward the canal., The

Richmond Times ran an editorial stating that the canal "has

a talent for sinking into a state of hopeless bankruptey";
as & matter of warning to its readers, the paper mentioned

the possibility of the canal devouring the State of Virginia.

2“V1rginia Academy of Sclence, op. cit., p. 728,
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It soon became apparent that the cenal was doomed,
Rallroads were more in harmony with the tempo of the period,
When the railroads were once able to domonstrate their prac-
ticability and usefulness, the James Rlver and Xanawha
Canal, like others in the country, was unable to cémpete
with them and finally succumbed to thelr superior advan#
tages, Thig competition was scarcely felt by the canal
before 1853, but after that time the railroads encroached
steadily upon the traffle of the canal, until finally the
service was circumscribed by the railroads, thus, creating
a hopeless situation for the canal.

The railroads continued toc take tonnage and revenuos
away from the canal until it was finally forced into bank-
ruptcy. The chilef competitor of‘the canal was the Chesa- |
- peake and Ohlio Rallroad, which extended a distance of 205 1/2v |
miies from Richmond to Govington.as ‘

The tonnage basin of the canal, by 1876, was greatly
circumscribed by the Chesapeake & Ohio and the Orange &
Alexandria railroads on the north of the James and by the
Richmond & Danville and the Atlantic, Mississippi & Ohlo
rallroads on the south. These railroads compéted for local

freights with the canal aiong almost its entire length,

25911!39.\9'83', Op. Cit.’ P 185-
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Also, through their connectiod with each other, the rall-
rdé@s competed for'through.freights between Richmoﬁd'and |
Lynchburg. .

.Although the railbbads continued éo diminish the tonnage
and revenues of the canal until they finally reduced 1t to
bankruptéy and abandonment, there was no other canal entera
prise in the stateithat‘interfered‘with 1ts traffic.
| Amid the troubles of the candlfythe»politicgl fdrces
supporting tha‘canal proved to bé less influentisl than
those favbfing‘thé rai;roads.‘ |

A freshet of. 1877 caused thé JaméSARiverntq become a
roaring torrént,_which played havoc with everything across
its path and daﬁéged the canal throughout its entirenlength.
This was the final blow for the canal, as 1t:never récoveréd
from the effects of this¢ The canal was so crippled that
it was at first considered ruined, and the damage.was esti-

mated at $200,000.2°

The Commonwealth put all available
| convict labor to work on it and navigation waS'reﬁumed to
Lynchburg, in February, 1878. However, the damage to the
canal was so wldespread that ﬁhe projeét,never fully re-
covered, giving way eventually to the Chesapeske and Ohio

Railroad.2/

szunaway, op. ¢it., p. 230,
27 o -

4 Jenkins, op. cit., Richmond Times Dispatch, April 25,
1940,
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The following factors contributed to the decline of

the csanal's continued progress: Railroad competition made
serious inroads upon canal revenues. The Civil War and the
poverty attending the reconstruction period werse Both sevefe
blows to the canal company. As a final blow, the sevore
floods of the 1870's so damaged the canal that canal‘Opéra-
tions were forced into bankruptey 15 1880.

~ The General Assembly authorized that the canel be sold
to the Richmond and Alleghany Ralilroad Company in 1680, as
this Company wished to use the tow path for a right-of-way.
Here was & natural for the railroad. The twelve foot wide
tow-path madeva perfect roadbed for laying grosstiea.
This, of course, eliminated & grééﬁ deal of engineering and
grading costs. Frelght boats could transport freight and
materials directly to the spot they were needed. The work
of bullding the road along the toﬁ-path was at once begun.
Canal traffic continued, however, even after the rallroad
was begun but as sections of treck were completed, the canal
boats were gradually withdrawn, It was not long before tﬁe
muslical sound of the boat-horn was no longer heard. Finélly,
the canal boats, like the o0ld stages, disappeared entirely.
Thus, the demise of the canal came after a struggle of
ninety-five years of varied fortune. It passed into his-

tory March 5, 1880,
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From the river came a new sound. On August 9, 1881,
the first train made the run from Richmond to Lynchburg,
and today slong the old tow-path of the James River Canal
runs the Chesapeake and Ohlo Railroad, (the tow-path being
used to e large sxtent for its tracks) forming a central

route botween the Virginia capes and the great West,

Present Status of the Canal:

Only vestiges of the canal system‘ramain today. Howsver,
a small stretch of the canal still serves Richmond. A sec~
tion about elight miles long from Bosher to Richmond 1s now
used to supply water to the City of Richmond and industrial
firms for hydroelectric power, and to supplement the Richmond
water supply at times of low flow of the stream. The basin
of the James River Canal in the city is now covered by the
freipght yards of the Chesapeake and Ohlo Rallroad Compeny.
The canal today provides the City Dock for the Port of
. Richmond. It extends from 28th Street to 17th Street, this
portion of it being in existence in 1885,

Tariff of tolls on goods, wares, merchandise, etec.,
passing the lock gates of the Richmond Dock, which were
adopted May 1, 1885, still remain in effect to the present

day. Some examples follow:

Bscon, beef, and pork, per 100 1bs. «01
Coal, Virginia, 2,000 lbs. .06
Cotton, per bale .05

Pianos 50
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At the prosent time, somo ship parﬁs for the Navy are
being shipped out, but it 1s not used for any cother purpose,
except for storing of small boats such as yachts, and pllse
driving equipment, barges, etc., to protect the boats from
ice and freshets in the James River. In view of the low
tariff of tolls, it does not pay the City of Richmond to
operate the canal other than for the protectlion of the boats,
which are owned by the citizens of Richmond. Rates for
storage are flve cents a day for any size boat, so long as
it is a pleasurs boat. For commercial boats such as barges,

etc., the rate 1s ten cents per day.aB

Summarx:

The James River Cansl was constructed during George
Washington's presidency. Paralleling the James md con-
structed at a cost of more than $8,000,00Q, it was one of
Virginiats most important public projects, and the greatest
freight and passenger carrier in the 3tate of Virginia in
its hey-day. It was greatly damaged, hcwever, during the
War betwsen the States; almost swept away by the flood of
1877; considered financially werthless in 1879; and having

28
This information on the present status of the canal
was supplled by the City Harbormaster, Captain 0. L. Rowe,



86

been sold in 1880 to the Richmond and Allegheny Railroad,
was acquired along with that road in 1888 by lts competitor;
the Chesapeake and Ohio_Railway.29

The total mileage of the canal and branches was 222 miles
of which 177 miles was artificial canal and ;5 miles was
river navigation. The canal was 30 feet wide at the bottom,
50 feet wide at the line, and 5 feet deep. The tow-path was
12 feet wide,

Cost of the canal from Richmond to Lynchburyg was
@h,837 628 or $39,082 per mile. Altogether, there were
about 160 miles of canal snd 356 miles of river navigation
which was made possible by locka and dams. Cost of the
canal from Richmond to Buchanan was $8,259,184, a sum greater
than the cost of the original Erie Canall

George Washington helped plan the link between the East
and West, but steam frustated its backers. The James River
and Kanawha Canal wasithe result of washingtonts vision,
althbugh it never reached the West, but ended thirty miles
beyond Lynchburg. Had his plan met with early success,
perhaps Richmond would be one of the largest citles in the

9Workers of the Writers!' Program of the W. P. A. in
the State of Virginla, Virginia, A Guide to the Q0ld Dominion,
Oxford University Press, New York, 1940, De
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United States. Had the plan met with early faillure,
Richmond might yet be undeveloped.Bo

The dream of Washington was at last realized, not in
Just the way he had planned, it 1s true, but in a better
and more enduring way. The Chesapeake and Ohic Rallway
now traverses the country along the valleys of the Jameé,
the Greenbrier, the New, and the Great Kanawha and the
Chio, connecting the eastern and western waters, the
Mississippl River and the capes of Virginia.

As to the original canal, little of it remains toe
day. A small portion of it continues to serve Richmond,
as the section from Bosher to Richmond 1is now used to
supply water to the City of Hiphmond snd industrial firms
- for hydroelectric power. Also, the canal today provides

the City Dock for the Port of Richmond.

JO
L8 Jenkins, op. cit., Richmond Times Dispatch, April 25,
1940,
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CHAPTER XII
KETHRODS OF TRAHSPORT ON THE CANAL

ganoes:

During the Reveclution the Virginia government made
good use of tobacco canpes for conveylng supplies up and
down the James, raving the planters five hundred pounds,
Virginia money, for & ten hogshead canoe. The double canoe
was the most practical method of navigation until a new type
of boat was brought into use, designed especlally to meet

conditions on the upper James .1

Bateaux Boats:

The bateau was designed by Anthony Rucker and was sim-
ilar to a canoe, long and narrow, but it could carry a

larger cargo than the double cance, and it made the journey

~lwertenbaker, Te Joy The 0ld South, Charles Scribnerts

Sons, New York, 1942, p. 130.
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from Lynchburg to Richmond in seven days. But the bateau»
required a crew of three men'ana it was difficult to steer
it past certain places at low water. Even after the James
Rivef'Company had improved the river channel, 1n‘using the
bateau men often had to wait for a rise in theAWatér before
setting out on their journey.' In these strange'&rért the
commerée of the upper James and its tribuﬁarieg‘as fér west
as Rockbridge and Botetourt flowed back and forth until the
fourih decadé of the nineteénth century. It is said that
Thomas Jefferson was present at the 1§uhchiﬁg Bf the first

James River bateau.2

| Canal Boats:

The owners and operators of bateaux boats had a busi-
ness which they knew the canal could destroy, so they re-
fused to make way for progress and fought the canal's prog-
ress with determination. Thus, the bateaux boats were clogs
in the way of progress, Richmond, howevep, needed the canal
more than 1t needed the bateaux. Without a level and basin
it was all but impossible to develop manufacturing at
Richmond. This was s0 true that beforé the éanal and basin

were built at Richmond, Petersburg was a much larger and

2 -
Wertenbaker, T. Je, The 0ld South, Charles Scribner's

Sons, New York, 1942, p. 130.
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a more thriving comunity. With the construction of the
basin and canal, thé city was Introduced to manufaéturing;
growth came to the port; and passengers and‘rreight were
given a one-way route to the towns ahd cities up the James.3
As the cance gave way to the bateau, so the bateau
gavo way to the canal boat. With the construction of tﬁo
James River and Kenawha Canal, and the introduction of en=
closed boats carrying a far heavier burden of frelght, there

L

was no need for the lighter craft,

Prelght Boats:

The freight boats measured 85 to 93 feet in length
and were pulled by mules, Although the largest canal frelght
boats were bullt to carry 80 tons, the available load seldom
exceeded 60 tons. The captain's room, crew's sleeping room,
and kitchen were uaﬁally in the bow, and thére wes a stabls'
to accomodate two mules in the stern. In the center of the
boat was freight space for a capscity of about 150,000
pounds. The freight rate per hundredweight averaged about

6 1/2 cents downstream and 6 1/2 cents upstroam, Each boat

3Bullington, Ann, Vignettes of the James, Richmond
Press, Inc., Richmond, Virginia, 1941, ps 120e

i‘*&‘.’ert;enbakar, op. cit., p. 132,
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carried a crew of six men end was towed by a team of four
horses., Those boéts made the upstream trip from Richmond
to Lynchburg in three and a halfl days, the roturning irip
In three,

There were many rules of the road, Horses and mules
were supposed to slow down to a walk for all tow-path bfidges
and the speed limit was four mlles an hour. Anyocne desiring
to traverse the canal at the bresk-neck speed of five miles
an hour could obtain pormission from an officer of the com-
pany, otherwise he was llkely to be fined.S ,

The James Rilver Paéket Company ran a line of boats
from Richmond to Lynchburg in 1848, and later extended this
line te¢ Buchanan, by which mall, freight, express, and pase
sengers were transported from Richmond to variocus polints |
on the upper Jamees River, Later the flrm bscame interested
in stage lines that connected with the canal boats and ran
tc the verious Virginia Springs and to other points of ine
terest in the western part of the State. Such linec as
these carried all the traffic of the time, since rallroads

had not then come into the South.6

5Richnond, Capitel of Virginia, Approaches to 1ts
History by various Hands, Wwhittet end Shepperson, Richmond,
Virginla, 1938’ p. 276.

6Davenport Insurance Oorporation, The Experience of a
Century, (1848-19.8), #hittet and Shepperson, Richmond,
rginia, 1lY40, p. 1C.
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For an observerts ploture of the freight boats on the'
canal, the following excerpt is cuoted, which was written
by the late Mrs. Anne S, Rutherford and published in the
Richmond News Leader's Bicentennial Issue, 1737-1937:

"The movement of these freight boats was slow
but sure, frequently taklng ten and eleven hours
to go a distance of forty miles. Yet 1t became
the mesns of operating the country west of Richmond
and bringing to market its produce. Coal, coke, and
selt minea, each with thelir products lying icdle,
were opened and worked. It gave, also, to the agri-
culturist a chesp and easy way to deliver their
crops of grain, hay, and tobacco, nor was 1t an un-
rleasant sipght to sec the odd-looking boats gliding
down the canal, impelled by one or more horses or
mules that walked slowly along the tow path made
for the purpose on the side of the canal.

"I cannot say that all of the boatmen were
honest who plied their little crafts up and
down the canal. They often fed their team in
some hayfield on thelr way, sometimes stopped
to milk a cow or tec plllage an orchard, and were
known to butcher animals found neer, carrying
~them off for food., I was personally a sufferer
from these piratical crews as my orchsrd and
farm yard were very near the canal. ., . n7

Passenger Packet Boats:

When the James River Canal was completed, it afforded
a new means of travel which.was long a plcturesque feature

of social 1life. Not only the economic life, but also the

Rutherford, Mrs. Anne S., "The James River and
Kanawha Cansl," The Richmond News lLesder, Bicentennisl

Issue, 1737-1937,
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social 1life of Virginia centered around the James River
Canal, Socinlly the canal was a success. It wasvthe-fai~
orite method of travel ﬁo and from ths capital.

Packet boats were ﬁéde to accomodate about sixty per-
sons, but Qould handle more, 1f necessary. The’uppar deck
was a cool, comfortable place. DBelow deck, quérters Wére
¢ramped, poorly vantilatéd, and some pesople avoided slesping
aboard the paclkets becauée they feoared smothering to death.

Packot boats were dfawn by three horses which were kept
‘at a constant trotting pace, 'They wore changed abouﬁ every
twelve miles whore stables were available for keeping fresh
horses. Passengers sometimes leapt ashore and raided a tree,
roturning wlth the fruit to board the boat, which had not
gone vory rar.8 |

The packet landing was at the foot of Bight Street.
Passengers arrived on foot or by carriage, and the place
vas always a scene of great activity. When the packet had
racelved 1lts cargo of passengers, the horses were hitched,
and off it started. At 3oventh Street a bridgé was encoun-
tered, and by the time the packet rounded Penitentiary Hill
it was moving at a fast clip with the horses at a trot.

138
"Bullington, Ann, Vignettes of the James, Richmond
Press, Inc., Richmond, Virginia, 1941, p» 120,
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Passenger traffic on the canal was never extensive,
being confined even at ita height to six regular packet
boats. Passenger boats left Richmond on alternate days
for Lynchburg, Buchanan, Columbia, and Scottsville. The
maximum recelpts from passenger trafflc were only £8,708.79
in 1847, a representative year.

In 1848 the regular packet fare to Lynchburg from
Richmond was $3.50 without meals, and $7.59T;r meals were
included, not ineluding drinks. Children and seréants
travelled at half-fare. The fare was reduced in 1859.t0
meet rallroad competitign. The trip consumed thirty-three
hours going up, and thi%ty-one and a half hours retﬁbning.

The body of Stonewall Jackson was taken to Lexington
from Richmond by packet boat, It was over;the canal, too,’
that the Virginies Military Instltute cadets left Riéhmond
when the city was evacuated in 1865.7 -

On April 2, 1865, at midnight, the Danville Railroad
bore off all the officers of the government, and others who
could escaped by canal packets.

George W. Bagby, noted Virginia humorist, recorded in
his "Reminiscences" an interesting picture of passenger

travel on the canal boats:

9Lutz, Earle, A Richmond Album, Garrett and Massie,
Richmond, Virginia, 1937, pe 98
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"In 1838, I made my first trip to Richmond. . .
Those were the good old days. . . the plctureaque
craft charmed my young eyes more than all the
gondolas of Venice would do now., True, they
consumed a week in getting from Lynchburg to
Richmond, and ten days in returning against the
steam, but what of 1t? Time was abundent in
those daySQ . @ : k

"For purposes of through travel, the canal
lasted ten or twelve yeurs. The canal, after
a felr and costly triel, 1s to give place to
the rail, Tho dream of the great canal to the
Ohio, with its nine-mile tunnel, costing fifty
millions, must be abandoned. The canal has

- served its purpose. Henceforth, Virginia must
prove her metal in the front of steam,"l

10 ‘ ' ' ' (
' Bagby, George W., Canal Reminiscences: Hecol-
lections of Travel in the 0ld Days on the James River
and Kanawha Canal, from The 0ld Virginia Gentleman and
Other sketches, Dietz Press, Richmond, virginia, 1930.
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CHAPTER XIIT
PRESENT STATUS OF RICHMOND AS A PORT CITY, 1951

Richmond today i1s a United States Customs Port. The
city spreads from both banks of the James River, at the
head of navigation, appfoximately ninety miles from the
river's mouth at Hampion Roads., It is situated within
five hundred miles of L9.7 per cent of the total popula-
tion of the United States; SO.BFper cent of the nationt's
total income; 50,6 per cent of the nationt's total retall
output and 59.1 per cent of the nation's total industrial
output. fRichmond is the intersection of trade boutes and
1s justly named "Gateway to the South.,"

The capitgi city has a metropolitan population of
229,905 people, with a city erea of 39.77 square miles.
By‘ﬁay of contrast, one hundred years ago in 1850, the
total area of the city was only 2.40 square miles, and the
population consisted of 27,570 people. But in the one
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hundred years sincg 1850, Richmond has expanded 1ts total
area seventeenfold, from 2.0 square miles to 39.77, and
its population by more than elght times.

The Richmond originally laid out in 1737 as a town
was elght blocks long and four'blacks wide, but it is now
more than nine miles long from north to south and is sbout
nine miles from the east and the west end sections.

The Port oflaichgond toda&, the most westerly one of
the northern Atlantic, starts in the nelghborhood of the
city-owned Intermedlate %erminal along Lester Streei in the
vicinity of "Tobacco Row." It meandérs along both sides
of the James River, past the low-lying wharves and storage
tanks o: a dozen or more oil, fertillizer and chemical firms,
to the city-owned Daepwatgr Terminal, at the end of Hinth
Street Road behind the du Pont Plant.z

The naviggbie»section of ths James River, over which
the city is responsible and has Jjurisdiction, extends from
the head of the tidewater at 1llith Street to a distance of
twenty miles downstream,

Entrance to the James River from the Aﬁlantic Qcean

is through Hampton Roads, which has a depth of L0 feet.

lﬂichmond Times Dispatch, June 20, 1950.

®Richmond Times Dispateh, April 30, 1950.
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From the mouth of the James River to Hopewell, Virginia,
1s 69 miles, |

From Hopewell to the Richmond Deepwater Terminal 1is
18 milés, end the channel covering this area has boen dredged
to a depth of 25 feet,

From the Deepwater Terminal to the Upper Terminal is
4 miles.

The City of Richmond owns snd controls two river termi-
nals. The Upper Terminal 1s located on the left bank of
the James River at the foot of Nicholson Street, in the
manufacturing section of Richmond. The Deepwater Terminal
is located lj miles below the Upper Terminal on the right
bank of the river. It will accomodate vessels 650 feet
longe

The Upper Terminal is a concrete whar! ‘wall, 756 feet
long with 80,000 square feet of warshouses aﬁd transit shed
facilities, and an automatic sprinkler system. A five-ton
crane, electric current, and domestlic water are available,
and there are good rail and highway connections, as it is
served by both the Chesapeake and Ohlo and Southern Railways,.
This terminal is at the head of navigation, the rapids pre-
venting lhrger vessels from moving any farther inland.

The Deepwater Terminal is city~owned and 1s a concrete

wharf 1,250 feet long, bordering a turning basin 700 feet
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by 1,600 feet. This terminal is Richmond's great inland
port facility. It has 333 acres of land with trackage’to
serve the entlre open area. It has two hugs, reinforced
conerete warehouses with 190,000 square feset of floor space
used for storage, slso, freight moving equipment and an ad-
ministration bu;lding. Electric current, automatic sprinkler
fire protection, and domsstlc water are provided. For bulk
storage there is a section of 15,000 square feet, It also
has the mcdified'gravityatype concrete electric cranes.
There are 10 miles of city-owned rallroed connecting with
the Seaboard and axple connections to major highways, The
terminal has locomotives for shifting cars, track scales for
welghing cars, and & fleet of modern trucks for économic
handling of freight. The terminal was completed in 1940.

Both the Upper Terminal and the Deepwater Terminal are
operated by the Richmond Waterfront Terminals, Incorporated,
under agreement with the City of Richmond.

In addition to the two terminals described, other docks
and wharfs are avallable. The City of Richmond owns and
operates the City Dock, just above the Upper Terminal., The
City Dock 18 in the very heart of the wholesale and warchouse
district of the city. It extends along Dock Street to 17th
. Street, e distance of l,50 feet. The dock is entered from
the river by a masonry lock with & 15 foot 1ift, The lock
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chamber has a width of 35 feet and a depth of 12 feet and
will accomodate vessels 168 feet longs Also, slong the
river front, within the harbor limits, there are fourteen
privately owned wharves, six of which have rail connections.
According to the (City Harbormaster's report, vessels
arriving and departing at the Port of Richmond are averaging
about nine per day each way in and out, throughout thé year.
This 1nclué§s steamers; scows, tugs, tankers, barges, and
yachts, |
Twenty-six ocean-going steaméhips entered the port in
1949. Some were of Nicaraguan, Canadian, Swedish, and
Finnish registry.> In 1949, the port received 3,05} vessels
of all types, and in 1950 the number of vessels was 3,6L5.
The bulk of the cargo now is gasoline and oil. The
City Harbormaster reports that the only means of oil supply
to the City of Richmond, at the present time, 1s through
the James River‘& | !
Richmond has come a long way since 1800, the official
recognition date of the city as ah inland seaport. The
earliest skyline view of Richmond is of that year, sketched
by the artist, Charles Fraser, picturing a sparsely settled

3Richmond Times Dispatch, April 30, 1950,

h'S*l:ateumssm: made to the author by the ity Harbormaster,
Captain 0. L. Rowe.,
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center., In today's outline of .the historic seven hills,
tall buildings loom against the background.

The city of today is progressive and wealthy. It not
only has wealth but 4t elso has shrines, It witnessed many
stirring events of the Colonial and antebellum eras, and is
the formér capital of the Confederacy. The great tobacco
industry had its inception here; the first iron in the Now
World was made here; also, the first coal in America was
mined in Richmond. luch of the wealth of the clty today
depends upon the tobacco industry hore.

Manufacturing plants line the banks of the James River;
railroads, steamships, and busses are busily engaged 1in load=
ing and unloading varled cargnes, where once straggling
settlors bartered English merchandise for Indian furs.

Shipping through the Port of Richmond today saves
Richmonders millions‘of dollars through reduced freight
rates, The portt's giistence also causes other agencles of
transportation to lower their freight rates.5 The Deepwater
Terminal has given the citizens & saving of $1 per ton on
all freight coming to Richmond by water, DBecause the port
handles sugar, Virginiasns are supposed to save 10 cents a

hundredweight in sugar costs because of lower freight rates,

S5Richmond Times Dispatch, April 30, 1950.
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Tdtalégommunity savings and benefits exceed $4,000,000
annuéiiy, according to the Budget Report of the City
Harbormaster for 191;9-1%?50.

R As beautiful and historic Richmond moves along in the
twentieth century, may it continue to grow and prosper aé

an inland seaport, as it adds height to its skyline,
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